
Children's Commissioning Committee 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Children's Commissioning Committee to 
be held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Wednesday, 24 July 2019

TIME: 9.30 am

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Welcome and Introductions. 

2  Apologies for absence. 

3  Declarations of Interest. 

4  To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held 
on 1 May 2019 

(Pages 1 - 6)

5  Matters arising. 

6  Commissioning Intentions. (Pages 7 - 20)

7  Best Value. (Pages 21 - 60)

8  Maternity Services in Salford - Update (Pages 61 - 66)

9  Finance Report (Verbal Update) (Steve Dixon) 

10  Work Programme 2019 / 2020 (Pages 67 - 68)

11  Any other business. 

12  Date and time of next meeting - Wednesday 11 September 2019 
at 9.30 a.m. 

Public Document Pack



Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3011
Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services Officer E-Mail: mike.mchugh@salford.gov.uk



1 | P a g e

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE

1 May 2019

Meeting commenced: 2.00 p.m.
“                 ended: 3.45 p.m.

PRESENT: Councillor John Merry, CBE - in the Chair

Members:

Dr Tom Regan                             Salford CCG 
Dr Nick Browne Salford CCG – Joint Chair
Dr Tom Tasker Salford CCG
Councillor Bill Hinds LA Representative
Councillor John Walsh LA Representative 
Councillor Jane Hamilton LA Representative
Dr Peter Brambleby Interim Director of Public Health
Charlotte Ramsden Strategic Director - People
Steve Dixon Chief Finance Officer – Salford CCG
Karen Proctor Director of Commissioning Salford CCG
Francine Thorpe Director of Quality and Innovation
Kate Jones Neighbourhood Lead

Officers:

Deborah Blackburn Assistant Director, Public Health Nursing and Wellbeing 
- SCC

Harry Golby Assistant Director of Commissioning - Salford CCG
Chris Hesketh Head of Financial Management - SCC
Helen Oldland Senior Democratic Services Advisor - SCC

ITEM ACTION BY
1. INTRODUCTIONS AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence had been submitted on behalf of Anthony 
Hassall, Emma Reid and Joanne Hardman.

The chair wished to place on record his thanks to the clerk for her 
service to the Council on her impending retirement.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members completed the Attendance and Conflicts of Interest sheet.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Children’s Commissioning Committee

1st May 2019 

2 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
3. TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Terms of Reference for the Committee had been provided for 
information. It was mentioned that these formed part of the Partnership 
Agreement which had been previously seen by all members of the 
Committee.

The following amends were requested – page 5 – complimentary 
should read complementary. In addition it was highlighted that not all 
members of the Committee are GPs (as referred to in line 7 on page 1) 
- and a different form of words was required in order to make this 
distinction clear.

Deborah Blackburn indicated that she would follow up on these 
requests.

Deborah 
Blackburn

4. BUSINESS PLANNING UPDATE

Karen Proctor introduced the above report which had been provided to 
the Committee for information. The Plan had been developed in 
conjunction with Salford City Council where integrated arrangements 
existed. 

Appendix 1 outlined the high level aims for each of the key delivery 
work streams and this committee would have a particular interest in the 
children’s element. More detail would be provided to the committee as 
each proposal was finalised and it was confirmed that the Plan feeds 
into team and individual objectives in order to monitor delivery. 

A member of the committee commented that key issues would be 
scheduled on to the agenda (work plan) for this committee throughout 
the year. 

RESOLVED: THAT the Children’s Commissioning Committee;-

(1) Note Salford Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) Annual 
Business Plan 2019-20 for information; paying particular attention to 
the high level aims outlined in the Children’s and Maternity Services 
work stream which have been jointly developed with colleagues from 
Salford City Council leadership teams and service groups.

(2) Provide any comments on this plan that can be incorporated in to 
the next version that is scheduled for governing body approval in May 
2019.

(3) Note that this plan will be translated in to team and individual 
objectives over the coming weeks; and work prioritised accordingly.

Page 2



Children’s Commissioning Committee

1st May 2019 

3 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
5. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

Charlotte Ramsden provided an overview of the best value work 
programme and explained how this was being aligned to integrated 
financial planning with service planning and transformation of services.

Detail was provided on how this work fits within the wider context of the 
full children’s work plan which was contained in the Finance Report on 
the agenda for this meeting.

Charlotte Ramsden highlighted the following during the presentation;- 

 Seven Best Value Programmes
 Four transformation programmes and three service redesigns
 44 projects overall plus business as usual and two further 

transformation programmes needed
 Three key financial tasks – overall case for change to release 

funding, tracking and evaluation, Cost Benefit Analysis and 
tracking on other joint programmes to provide evidence

The timetable for the agreement of the programme investment was 
also provided with the service model planned to come to this 
committee at the meeting in July. The views of the Lead Member were 
requested to be included in the timetable as it was noted that the 
proposals for the No Wrong Door model had already been shared with 
the Salford City Council executive.

The Chief Finance Office (CCG) commented that by grouping a 
number of services together the collective impact would be greater and 
the next agenda item – Fostering Allowances Report – was a good 
example of this. 

During the discussion of this item the following issues were raised;-
 Capacity and resource
 Plan on a Page Gant chart – includes timelines
 Role of the Advisory Board 
 Clear work programme for this committee – to be presented in 

July

RESOLVED: THAT the presentation be noted. 

Charlotte 
Ramsden

Deborah 
Blackburn

Page 3



Children’s Commissioning Committee

1st May 2019 

4 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
6. FOSTERING ALLOWANCES REPORT

Charlotte Ramsden introduced the above report which had been 
included on the agenda as an item for information. The committee 
were informed that Foster Carers are a great asset to the Council and 
provided the best value care with the best outcomes for the children in 
their care. The challenges facing the Fostering Service were detailed in 
the report and the rationale behind the rise in allowances was also 
explained. 

During the discussions that followed these issues were raised;-

 How do we know if this is the right level of investment – all 
evidence suggests that this will improve the situation but we will 
have to see its effect over time

 Need to ensure that Foster Carers feel valued – as well as 
providing support and training – be competitive in the market

 What else can we do to support Foster Carers? Peer support 
could be explored – has worked elsewhere, other financial 
support such as after school club paid or uniforms, exemption 
from council tax

 High cost of residential placements
 Respite care and the Mockingbird model 
 Cost Benefit Analysis – would be a valuable exercise to 

undertake
 Trauma Informed Practice and Adverse Childhood Experiences
 No exit strategy in place 
 Benefits won’t be seen in isolation - the No Wrong Door model 

will also impact positively in this area 
 Recruitment officer in post who works alongside Comms and 

marketing team – targeted recruitment underway
 Other forms of carers – surrogate grandparents, relationship 

based foster carers, family and friends carers 

In closing, an invitation was made to all to attend the Foster Carers 
Long Service Awards which was taking place on Tuesday 7th May from 
12 noon. 

RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted. 

7. FINANCE REPORT 

Steve Dixon introduced the above report which had been seen 
previously by the committee members. The report set the scene for the 
new commissioning arrangements including the size and scope of the 
integrated fund. 

Page 4



Children’s Commissioning Committee

1st May 2019 

5 | P a g e

ITEM ACTION BY
The Chief Finance Officer highlighted the following within the report;-

 Currently have a balanced budget
 Monitoring reports being developed
 Main areas of financial risks – actions being taken to mitigate 

against these and size and scale
 Overspend in Children’s Social Care – budget based on last 

year – expect an overspend in this area and the main drivers of 
this detailed

 Better outcomes at a lower cost – best value is more than just 
the financials

 Dedicated Schools Grant discussions
 Best use of estates
 Redesign and testing new ways of working

It was noted that a Finance Report would be included on the agenda 
for each meeting of this committee and the Chair thanked the Chief 
Finance Officer for his comprehensive report. 

RESOLVED: THAT (1) a Finance Report be a standing item on the 
agenda for this committee. 

                                (2) The Finance Report is noted by the Committee. 

Democratic
Services SCC

8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS

There was no any other business and members were thanked for their 
attendance. 

9. DATE OF NEXT MEETING

Wednesday 24th July at 9.30a.m in the Salford Suite at Swinton Civic 
Centre. 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1

NAME OF MEETING
AGENDA ITEM NO

Item for Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

DATE OF MEETING 12 JUNE 2019

Report of: Charlotte Ramsden and Anthony Hassall 

Date of Paper: 24.07.19 

Subject: Commissioning Intentions 

In case of query 
Please contact:

Debbie Blackburn and Harry Golby 

Purpose of Paper:
This report provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of commissioning 
and provision relating to Childrens health and care to ensure Childrens Commissioning 
Committee are kept abreast of developments.

The paper summarises the commissioning intentions of both Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and Salford City Council (SCC) for the forthcoming 
financial year.

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



 

2

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

This report provides an overview of a number of 
key or emerging areas of commissioning and 
provision relating to Childrens health and care 
to ensure Childrens Commissioning Committee 
are kept abreast of developments.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT ARE 
THEY AND HOW DOES THIS PAPER 
REDUCE THEM?

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

The services are listed in the report 

Footnote:

Page 8



 

3

Members of – Adults’ Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 9



  

4

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)



Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)

 Ongoing discussions with 
providers about service monitoring 
and transformation work 

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how these 
will be managed) 

Legal Advice Sought
Presented to the XXX
Presented to the XXX
Presented to theIXXX
Presented to any other groups or committees, 
including Partnership Groups
(Please specify in comments)

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 10



5

Commissioning Intentions 

1. Executive Summary

This report provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of commissioning 
and provision relating to Childrens health and care to ensure Childrens Commissioning 
Committee are kept abreast of developments.

The paper summarises the commissioning intentions of both Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and Salford City Council (SCC) for the forthcoming financial 
year.

2.  Commissioning Intentions 

2.1 This documents summarises the current commissions for both Salford City Council and 
NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group and describes the service lines, end dates 
(where applicable) and contractual values, the aim of bringing this paper is to share the 
scope of the future potential business of the committee and assure Board members of future 
work which will be brought through Commissioning Committee for approval. 

7. Recommendations

7.1  Childrens Commissioning Committee to note the work programme 

Name Debbie Blackburn 
Job Title Assistant Director Public Health Nursing and Wellbeing 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1

MASTER COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS ICU JUNE 2019 

Name of contract Provider Brief Description
 Contract Value 19-

20 
Client Lead

CURRENT CONTRACT 

END DATE 

OPTION TO 

EXEND?

Third 

Sector 

Provider

COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS

To be scheduled at 

the Children's 

Commissioning 

Committee?

Speech and Language Therapy SRFT

Jointly commissioned support for children and 

young people with Speech, Language and 

Communication Needs (SLCN). It provides 

therapeutic interventions and  treatment and 

support and advice for parents and/or carers. 

£1314 (combined 

integrtaed spec value 

approx £1.7 million)

Eejay Whitehead

The service has been recently reviewed and an 

integrated, outcome-focussed service spec has 

been developed across the CCG & LA. Delivery 

against this revised spec is being monitored before 

any further commissioning decisions are taken.

Eejay Whitehead

Salford Children's Rights Service Barnardo's

Advocacy & Independent Visitor Services for LAC

£149,852 Amy Tinker  No Yes

I would like to ask for an extension to the contract 

on the basis of social value added from baranrdos 

and on account of the contract running smotthly.

Amy Tinker

Paediatric Opthalmology MFT (MREH)

Specification completed - to transfer Paediatric 

Ophthalmology activity to MREH. Outcomes 

framework and KPI's in place - this will remove 

the current fragmentation in the system - the 

service has transferred but is pending the full 

contract

£276,000 TBC Eejay Whitehead

Currently out of 

contract although 

activity included

Contract to be agreed and signed - activity is 

already flowing to MREH - the plan is the 

Pendleton Clinics will be re introduced ASAP. TUPE 

of SRFT orthoptic staff under discussion.

Eejay Whitehead

North West Fostering Framework

Range of independent 

fostering providers who are 

awarded a place on the 

framework

Independent foster agency placements for 

Salford looked after children & young people. 

Placements are individually spot purchased and 

called off framework 

Variable Clare Duff N/a N/a Mixed

Position remains the same. Will continue to 

commission a range of independent foster agency 

placements through the framework.

Clare Duff 

Greater Manchester Residential 

Framework

Range of independent 

residential providers who are 

awarded a place on the 

framework

Independent residential placements for Salford 

looked after children & young people. 

Placements are individually spot purchased and 

called off framework 

Variable Clare Duff N/a N/a Mixed

Position remains the same. Will continue to 

commission a range of independent children's 

home placements through the framework. 

Clare Duff

Salford Futures In house provision

Provides support to unemployed Salford 

residents through the provision of work 

experience placement and pre-employment 

training and support. Alison Burnett N/a N/a No

In addition to internal delivery, individual 

traineeship programmes will be commissioned 

from providers in 2020-21 as required. 

Alison Burnett

Transport Framework (Dynamic 

Purchasing System)
Multiple

Dynamic Purchasing system for the provision of 

transport
Variable  Pete Hardman N/a N/a No

Dynamic Purchasing System lasting 10 years - due 

to expire 31.08.26

Ursula Hurst

Community Paediatrics SRFT

Conultant-led specialist outpatient assessment, 

advice and intervention service for children and 

young people including specialist outpatient 

clinics, developmental paediatrics and disability 

medicine, educational medicine, child 

protection and safeguarding, adoption and 

fostering advice and assessment, public health 

promotion and advice. 

£878,000 Eejay Whitehead Ongoing No

Current service specification from 2009. Initial 

review completed: recommendation to revise 

service specification & consider business case. This 

is being taken forward during 2019/20. Depenednt 

on the outcome this may require a commissioning 

decision.

Ejay Whitehead

Paediatric Occupational Therapy and 

Physiotherapy Service 
SRFT

Paediatric therapy service providing assessment, 

provision of advice and treatment / 

management to restore movement and function  

or improve ability to manage everyday tasks 

where a child is affected by injury, illness or 

disability. 

£820,000 Eejay Whitehead Ongoing No

Current service specification from 2009. Initial 

review to be completed 2019/20. Dependent  on 

the outcome this may require a commissioning 

decision.

Eejay Whitehead

1

P
age 13



2

Name of contract Provider Brief Description
 Contract Value 19-

20 
Client Lead

CURRENT CONTRACT 

END DATE 

OPTION TO 

EXEND?

Third 

Sector 

Provider

COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS

To be scheduled at 

the Children's 

Commissioning 

Committee?

Paediatric Assessment and

Decision Area (PANDA)
SRFT

 Paediatric Emergency Department and 

observation and assessment unit. The ED sees 

and treats children and young people with 

injuries and minor illness, and those that require 

ongoing treatment or a period of observation 

can be monitored for up to 24 hours.

£2,834 Eejay Whitehead Ongoing

This service needs to be reviewed in the light of 

development around GM Theme 3 (Specialist 

Services).

Eejay Whitehead

Equipment Service

The equipment service provides standard and 

specialist equipment to enable people to 

undertake activities of daily living (ADL) across 

all ages. 
Eejay Whitehead Ongoing

The service has received additional investment in 

2019 to support delivery of an all-age integrated 

pathway.   Future funding decisions will be made 

following a review of a 12 month period of 

delivery.

Eejay Whitehead

Group Based Activities for Children 

with Disabilities (Small Grants)

Salford CVS

Awards of small grants of up to £5,000 for the 

provision of innovative new projects or the 

extension of existing provision to include more 

children with disabilities

£90,000 Steve Titley 31.03.19 No Yes

An options paper is going to SLT on 27.06.19 to 

consider the options including funding the existing 

projects to run again in 19/20 or to end the grants 

programme. 

Steve Titley

Early Years Educator Agency Workers Salford Supply Desk

To fill existing vacancies to meet statutory 

requirements in relation to staffing ratios in 

nursery settings.
Variable  David Fielding 31.05.19 No No

Confirmed on 17.06.19 that this would be ending 

as permanent staff were being recruited.

Becky Bibby

Governer Services Software System Ortoo

Governer Services Database used by Salford 

Council Governer Services team to service the 

needs of school governing bodies
£7415 (estimated, 

varies re number of 

schools signing up, 

final 18/19 figure 

being audited 

currently)

Steve Titley / Liz Wright 30.06.19 No No

Paper being prepared for PB to suggest extention 

of 2 plus 1, to give further time for the system to 

bed in with some schoools and the full benefits to 

be realised. The last tranche of schools to go on to 

the system was only in April 19. Planned that the 

report will suggest a market exercise at the end of 

year 2 to allow for year 3 to be a transtiion year to 

a new provider, should a new provider win any 

competive process.  

Steve Titley

SEN and Advice to Orthodox Jewish 

Community (BINOH)

Binoh (The Centre for 

Specialist Educational 

Assistance Ltd)

Support service working in Jewish schools 

offering advice and guidance for children with 

Special Educational Needs (SEN) and disabilities.
£40,360 Steve Titley / Rachel Buckler 30.08.19 Yes Yes

This contract is coming to the end of its first 3 

years and has two optional annual extensions to 

30.08.20 and 30.08.21. A report is going to PB on 

27.06.19 recommending that the first annual 

extension to 31.08.20 is taken up.

Steve Titley

Monitoring Service for the Collection 

of School Attendance and Attainment 

Data for LAC (Virtual School 

provision)

Looked After Call

Truancy Call Ltd t/a Contact 

Group

Monitoring Service for the Collection of School 

Attendance and Attainment Data for LAC 

(Virtual School provision)

£7,900 Sue Johnson  /  Steve Titley 31.08.19 Yes No

This contract will be extended into its final year 

from 01.09.19 to 31.08.20 should delivery continue 

to be satisfactory. Re-commissioning options will 

be considered in this final year as this type of 

service will be needed ongoing.

Steve Titley

FACT (Fuelling Ambitions Creatively 

Together)
Unlimited Potential 

Project part of the local authority’s 0-25

transformation programme focused on

developing an effective place-based approach to

supporting school improvement and community

development. 

£35,000 Sarah Scanlan 31.08.19 No Yes

Expected to end 31.08.19 but Alison Burnett 

checking if any further funding is available.

17.06.18 Confirmed no further funding.

Ursula Hurst

Supported Internship Pure Innovations

An employment officer to work with SCC and 

Salford University to source and deliver suitable 

work placements for  young people 16-24 with 

EHCP plans

£20,000 Dave Timperley 31.08.19 No Yes

Contract will end on 31.8.19. New contract will be 

commissioned via Salford City College rather than 

the local authority. 

Alison Burnett

2

P
age 14



3

Name of contract Provider Brief Description
 Contract Value 19-

20 
Client Lead

CURRENT CONTRACT 

END DATE 

OPTION TO 

EXEND?

Third 

Sector 

Provider

COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS

To be scheduled at 

the Children's 

Commissioning 

Committee?

Bridges to Change

Domestic Violence Intervention
Talk, Listen, Change 

Higher level family intervention approach for 

medium to high risk domestic violence 

perpetrators on a trajectory to family court 

intervention. £10,000 Steve Titley 04.10.19 No Yes

This contract is in a first year trial. If successful 

there may be either a request in late 2019  / early 

2020 to extend  it, or to go out to open market 

competition to commission a service to deliver 

similar outcomes. 

Steve Titley

Audio Computer Assisted Self 

Interviewing (ACASI)
The Viewpoint Organisation

Software package for collecting and analysing 

the views and needs of Salford Children to 

inform SSCB Partnership delivery
Tim Rumley 30.10.19 Yes No

This contract is being wound down and will not be 

extended beyond 30.10.19.

Steve Titley

Interpretation and Translation 

Service

Language Empire

Papillon Translations Ltd

Interpreting Translation Line 

Ltd

Framework of providers for services for 

*  Face to face delivery of BSL

*  Translation Services

*  Interpretation Services

Variable Steve Titley 31.10.19 Yes No

A report will be taken to SLT in September 2019 to 

request the final year extension of the contracts 

with these three providers from 01.11.19 to 

30.10.20.  The contracts were drawn down from 

the NHS SBS Framework and options will be 

reviewed in this final year to include re-

commissioning via any continuation of that 

Framework or  the existing NHS SBS Framework or 

possible joint commissioning with the CCG.

Steve Titley

Person Centred Community 

Approaches

training package for CP/CWD team

3k Amy Tinker 31.12.2019 No Yes

Identify training packages relating to autism.ADHD 

and disability for front line workers.

Amy Tinker

Employer Brokerage and Support 

Service

Economic Solutions (t/a 

Manchester Growth Company)
£80,000 Emma Nolan 31.03.20 No Yes

Extension will be required for 2020-21 (via an 

exception), subject to budget.   

Alison Burnett

Client Caseload Information System

Career Connect (formerly 

Greater Merseyside 

Connexions Partnership

CCIS to support and evidence the undertaking of 

statutory duties under the Education and Skills 

Act 2008
£8,232 Sarah Scanlan 31.03.20 No Yes

Extension (via an exception) will be required for 

2020/21 to support Connexions contract. 

Alison Burnett 

Debt Advisor Early Help (formerly 

known as Improving Financial 

Resilience)

Welfare Rights & Debt Advice 

Targeted financial inclusion support using data 

held by the LA for residents of working age 

affected by Welfare Reform to enable them to 

improve financial resilience. 

£5,000 A. Arthur 31.03.20 No No

To be mainstreamed through Welfare Rights in 

2020-21 

Alison Burnett

Digital Management System Day 

Nurseries (iConnect)

Connect Software Solutions 

Limited
Provision of Digital Management System £4,350

Becki Bibby / David Fielding / 

Steve Titley
31.03.20 Yes No

If delivery continues to be accpetable for the rest 

of this contract will  enter its final extension year 

on 01.04.20 (until 31.03.21). 

Steve Titley

Group Based Activities for Children 

with Disabilities

Autistic Society of Greater 

Manchester (ASGMA)

A range of out of school activities for disabled 

children, including those with complex autism

£15,000 Steve Titley 31.03.20 No Yes

This contract is in its final year to 31.03.20. A 

review of the provision and future commissioning 

options is due in Qtr 3 19/20 to consider options 

including an extension beyond 31.03.20  or re-

tendering  all within the context of wider strategies 

and developments in provison for children and 

young people with a disability, personalisation and 

transforming care. 

Steve Titley

3

P
age 15



4

Name of contract Provider Brief Description
 Contract Value 19-

20 
Client Lead

CURRENT CONTRACT 

END DATE 

OPTION TO 

EXEND?

Third 

Sector 

Provider

COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS

To be scheduled at 

the Children's 

Commissioning 

Committee?

Group Based Activities for Children 

with Disabilities
Chatsworth School

A range of out of school activities for disabled 

children, including those with complex autism

£25,000 Steve Titley 31.03.20 No Yes

This contract is in its final year to 31.03.20. A 

review of the provision and future commissioning 

options is due in Qtr 3 19/20 to consider options 

including an extension beyond 31.03.20  or re-

tendering  all within the context of wider strategies 

and developments in provison for children and 

young people with a disability, personalisation and 

transforming care. 

Steve Titley

Group Based Activities for Children 

with Disabilities
Core Assets Children's Services

A range of out of school activities for disabled 

children, including those with complex autism

£73,000 Steve Titley 31.03.20 No Yes

This contract is in its final year to 31.03.20. A 

review of the provision and future commissioning 

options is due in Qtr 3 19/20 to consider options 

including an extension beyond 31.03.20  or re-

tendering  all within the context of wider strategies 

and developments in provison for children and 

young people with a disability, personalisation and 

transforming care. 

SteveTitley

Group Based Activities for Children 

with Disabilities

Salford Community Leisure 

(SCL)

A range of out of school activities for disabled 

children, including those with complex autism

£15,000 Steve Titley 31.03.20 Yes Yes

This contract is in its final year to 31.03.20. A 

review of the provision and future commissioning 

options is due in Qtr 3 19/20 to consider options 

including an extension beyond 31.03.20  or re-

tendering  all within the context of wider strategies 

and developments in provison for children and 

young people with a disability, personalisation and 

transforming care. 

Steve Titley

Group Based Activities for Children 

with Disabilities
Special Spirits

A range of out of school activities for disabled 

children from the Jewish Community, including 

those with complex autism

£15,000 Steve Titley 31.03.20 No Yes

This contract is in its final year to 31.03.20. A 

review of the provision and future commissioning 

options is due in Qtr 3 19/20 to consider options 

including an extension beyond 31.03.20  or re-

tendering  all within the context of wider strategies 

and developments in provison for children and 

young people with a disability, personalisation and 

transforming care. 

Steve Titley

Group Based Activities for Children 

with Disabilities

The Federation of Jewish 

Services

A range of out of school activities for disabled 

children from the Jewish Community, including 

those with complex autism

£15,000 Steve Titley 31.03.20 No Yes

This contract is in its final year to 31.03.20. A 

review of the provision and future commissioning 

options is due in Qtr 3 19/20 to consider options 

including an extension beyond 31.03.20  or re-

tendering  all within the context of wider strategies 

and developments in provison for children and 

young people with a disability, personalisation and 

transforming care. 

Steve Titley

4

P
age 16



5

Name of contract Provider Brief Description
 Contract Value 19-

20 
Client Lead

CURRENT CONTRACT 

END DATE 

OPTION TO 

EXEND?

Third 

Sector 

Provider

COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS

To be scheduled at 

the Children's 

Commissioning 

Committee?

Intensive Family Key Worker Service

DISC (Developing 

Opportunities for Support in 

the Community)

Katie Kelleher/Zoe Busittil 31.03.20 No Yes

Extension will be required for 2020-21 (via an 

exception), subject to budget.  

Alison Burnett

Integrated Wellbeing and 

Employability Services for Adults with 

Complex Needs (HEALTHWORKS)

The Work Company (formerly 

Employment & Regeneration 

& Partnership Ltd T/A Work 

Solutions)

£125,000 Angela Arthur 31.03.20 No Yes

Existing service funded by Skills and Work 

underspend.  Would like to extend in to 2020-21 

but no budget currently identfied.    

Alison Burnett

Online  data source  containing 

practice-related information
Research in Practice

Subscription based on-line reference tool for 

social care professionals

£10,885 Sean Atkinson 31.03.20 Yes No

This services is in the 2nd year of a 2 year contract 

negotiated by the  Association of Directors of 

Children’s Services (ADCS) with Research In 

Practice to purchase a discounted, group 

subscription for 23 LA's in the NW including all 10 

GM LA's. A review of options will take place in late 

2018 when it is expected that a further discounted 

deal will be on offer. 

Steve Titley

Safe Families for Children Programme Safe Families for Children £60,000 Steve Titley / Steve Canning 31.03.20 Yes Yes

A report will be taken to SLT in September 2019 to 

request the final year extension of the contracts 

with these three providers from 01.11.19 to 

30.10.20.  The contracts were drawn down from 

the NHS SBS Framework and options will be 

reviewed in this final year to include re-

commissioning via any continuation of that 

Framework or  the existing NHS SBS Framework or 

possible joint commissioning with the CCG.

Steve Titley

Satellite Children's Centre for the 

Jewish Community (Hershel Weiss)

Hershel Weiss Children's 

Centre

Culturally appropriate Children's Centre for 

families in the Orthodox Jewish Community

£104,595 Rebecca Bibby 31.03.20 Yes Yes

This contract is in the 3rd year of 3 +1+1 contract. 

A review will be done at the end of 2019 to decide 

if the first annual extension from 01.04.20 to 

31.03.21 should be taken up based on contract 

peformance.

Steve Titley

Short Break Care for Children with 

Disabilities (Granville)
Aspire

Block booking arrangement - 695 beds per year

£238,943 31.03.20 No Yes

This is embedded within a much larger contract 

managed by Adult Services. It is under review

Debbie Fallon

0-19 Integrated Childrens Health 

Service

Salford Royal Foundation 

Trust

Health Visiting, School Nursing and Family Nurse 

Partnership services.
£5,270,472 Michelle Whittaker 31.03.20 Yes No

Extensionof contract for 12 months

Michelle Whittaker

Strategic Development of the VCSE 

sector through engagement, support 

and influence and promoting 

volunteering in Salford

Salford CVS Strategic Development of the VCSE sector 

through engagement, support and influence and 

promoting volunteering in Salford

£54,195 E. Edwards 31.03.20 Yes Yes

VOCAL S4091 £31,706

Safeguarding Development E3261 £22,489

Volunteer Centre S7055 £28,314

Strategic Development S7055 £85,000

Personalisation S0094 £16,963

Health and Social Care S0094 £22,848

Training and Development S7138 £58,249

Total  £265,569

Expectation to extend contract from April 2020.

Emily Edwards

5

P
age 17



6

Name of contract Provider Brief Description
 Contract Value 19-

20 
Client Lead

CURRENT CONTRACT 

END DATE 

OPTION TO 

EXEND?

Third 

Sector 

Provider

COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS

To be scheduled at 

the Children's 

Commissioning 

Committee?

Targeted Information Advice & 

Guidance for Jewish Community

Jewel Foundation (formerly 

JCOM Employment Agency 

Ltd)

Targeted project to provide access to effective 

and impartial  information, advice and guidance 

support to 18-64yr old residents living in 

Salford’s Jewish community who are at the 

greatest risk of worklessness/poverty. Aims to 

support informed choices and achieve positive 

outcomes.

£20,000 D. Timperley 31.03.20 No Yes

Extension will be required for 2020-21 (via an 

exception), subject to budget.

Alison Burnett 

Targeted Support to help Salford 

Young People to Engage in 

Appropriate and Compliant 

Education, Employment and Training 

Provision. 

Career Connect (formerly 

Greater Merseyside 

Connexions Partnership

Targeted Support to help Salford Young People 

to Engage in Appropriate and Compliant 

Education, Employment and Training Provision. 

£544,000 Sarah Scanlan 31.03.20 No Yes

Contract already extended to March 2021 

(exception approved by PB on 06.02.19

Alison Burnett 

16+ North West Framework

Range of independent 

unregulated  providers who 

are awarded a place on the 

framework

Unregulated placements for 16 + young people 

who are leaving care or present as homeless. 

Variable  Clare Duff 31.03.2020 Yes No

Position remains the same. Framework is currently 

suspended to new applicants whilst a review is 

undertaken. Placements will continue to be 

commissioned off the framework.  

Clare Duff

Teenage to Adult Group (TAG) ICO - via Caitlin Chapman

Service to plan, prepare and deliver the TAG.
£6,500 Debbie Fallon 31.03.20 Ongoing Yes

Annual contribution to an adult based service. Will 

not be commissioned out.

Debbie Fallon

SEN and Advice to Orthodox Jewish 

Community (BINOH)

Binoh (The Centre for 

Specialist Educational 

Assistance Ltd)

Support service working in Jewish schools 

offering advice and guidance for children with 

Special Educational Needs (SEN) and disabilities. £15,000 Steve Titley / Rachel Buckler 08.04.20 Yes Yes

A review will be done in Jan 20 to review contract 

peformance and to decide if the contract will be 

extended for another year to 09.04.20 to 08.04.21.

Steve Titley

Carer Support 

AMOUNT IS IN EURO
Five Rivers (Dublin)

Support provided to foster carers in Dublin on 

behalf of Salford City Council £50,700 Fostering Team 30.04.20 No No
SLA for 19-20 drafted and with Annie Clarkson 

liaise with provider for signing. 

Ursula Hurst

Group Based Activities for Children 

with Disabilities

YOU CAN Community Club 

(Oakwood Youth Club)

A range of out of school activities for disabled 

children, including those with complex autism

£50,000 Steve Titley 31.04.20 No Yes

This contract is in its final year to 31.03.20. A 

review of the provision and future commissioning 

options is due in Qtr 3 19/20 to consider options 

including an extension beyond 31.03.20  or re-

tendering  all within the context of wider strategies 

and developments in provison for children and 

young people with a disability, personalisation and 

transforming care. 

Steve Titley

Transport - Alderbrook Primary 

Partnership Centre
MDS Minibuses

Contract for MDS Minibuses for home to school 

and adhoc journeys for Alder Brook Primary 

Partnership Centre
Variable Steve Titley / Pete Hardman 20.07.20 Yes No

This contract is in the first period of a 23 month 

(up to 20.07.20)  plus 12 months + 12 months 

contract. A review will be done in the first half of 

2020 in time to decide if the first extension period 

from 21.07.20 to 20.07.21 should be taken up.

Steve Titley

Alternative Provision Innovation Fund  

(1)

DFE GRANT FUNDING - AMOUNT IS 

FULL CONTRACT VALUE

Salford City College

Functional Skills Tuition to support young 

people in the transition from Alternative 

Provision to compliant post-16 education and 

training. 

£55,000 Sarah Scanlan / John Jordan 31.08.20 No Yes

Fixed term grant funding will end on 31.08.20

Ursula Hurst

Alternative Provision Innovation Fund  

(2) 

DFE FUNDING - AMOUNT IS FULL 

CONTRACT VALUE

Next Level Learning 

Functional Skills Tuition to support young 

people in the transition from Alternative 

Provision to compliant post-16 education and 

training. 

£31,150 Sarah Scanlan 31.08.20 No No

Fixed term grant funding will end on 31.08.20

Ursula Hurst

6

P
age 18



7

Name of contract Provider Brief Description
 Contract Value 19-

20 
Client Lead

CURRENT CONTRACT 

END DATE 

OPTION TO 

EXEND?

Third 

Sector 

Provider

COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS

To be scheduled at 

the Children's 

Commissioning 

Committee?

ISTART mental health in social care 

pilot
SCC/CAMHS LAC

Innovation pilot to test out screening for mental 

health of LAC
£48,750 Amy Tinker 01/09/20 No No

Create a bespoke business solution for the pilot 

that includes IT and business support.

Amy Tinker

Liberty House Adullum Homes

16 bed accommodation for homeless 16-17 year 

olds
£126,259 Jennifer Walsh 23.10.20 No Yes

Options document to be submitted to look at how 

we tender for the future of this service.

Jennifer Walsh 

Salford Foyer Places for People

Young single homeless people aged 16-25 with 

support needs.  Young single mothers aged 16-

25 with a child aged up to 2 years.
£109,318 Jennifer Walsh 23.10.20 No No

Options document to be submitted to look at how 

we tender for the future of this service. 

Jennifer Walsh

Short Break Care Services for 

Disabled Children
Crossroads Care in GM

SBC services for disabled children, specifically:

Day time care in the home 

Education of leisure activities outside the home

Services to assist carers 

evenings/weekends/school holidays

Overnight care at home or elsewhere

Variable Steve Titley 31.03.21 Yes Yes

This contract is in the first year of a 30 months + 1 

+1 contract that started on 01.10.18. Contract 

performance will continue to be monitored up to 

the point when a decision needs to be made on the 

first extension from 01.04.21 .

Steve Titley

Allied Health Professionals SRFT

The provision of an Allied Health Professionals 

service for Children and Young People in Salford, 

including the provision of Speech & Language, 

Physiotherapy, Occupational Therapy and 

Audiology services.

£427,000 Jane Roberts 31.03.21 No No

A review wil be undertaken after year 1 to assess 

impact / delivery of the revised service, this will 

determine whether the contrcat wil be extended or 

out to tender.

Jane Roberts

Lane End  and Claremont Road Foundations

Leaving Care Accommodation for Looked After 

Children
£518,662 Jane Wright 31.03.21 Yes No

Procurement board approved a 2yr extension to 

contract on 9.1.19 so contract will now end on 

31.3.21

Jane Wright

Targeted Child and Adolescent 

Mental Health Services (CAMHS)

Manchester University NHS 

Foundation Trust (MFT)

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

specifically targeted at the following groups: 

Looked After and Adopted Children; Young 

Offenders; 16/17 year olds

£308,871 Amy Tinker / Emily Edwards 31.03.21  No No

Plan to integrate 3 council targeted contracts with 

core NHS CCG funded contract ( and CCG targeted 

contracts) with effect from April 2020. There is no 

current intention to go out to tender in 2020. CCG 

has taken responsibility for funding the CAMHS LAC 

contract from 2019, with expection of funding for 

Ben Ottaway's post. form April 2020, CCG will fully 

fund CAMHS LAC provision.

Emily Edwards

7

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

SALFORD Childrens Commissioning Committee 

Item for Discussion/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

*24th July 2019
Report of: Anthony Hassall/Karen Proctor/Charlotte 

Ramsden

Date of Paper: 24th July 2019

Subject: Salford Best Value Programme: Children’s 
Service Redesign - Case for Change Investment 
Proposal

In case of query 
Please contact:

Debbie Blackburn: 
deborah.blackburn@salford.gov.uk
Malcolm Semp: malcolm.semp@nhs.net

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services  

Primary Care

Enabling Transformation  

Purpose of Paper:
To request the Childrens Commissioning Committee to approve the service model 
for the proposed redesign of Salford Children’s Services. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

Providing a preventative approach to managing 
demand will improve the outcomes residents of 
Salford experience.
There will be a more joined up system wide 
response to a number of elements which will 
reduce longer term impacts from adversity 

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

Risks and mitigations are identified in the paper

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

Non envisaged

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT ARE 
THEY AND HOW DOES THIS PAPER 
REDUCE THEM?

The current “health & care” financial gap between 
income and costs will continue to increase unless 
action is taken now. 
This paper identifies children service redesigns 
that address the risk.

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

The distinction between “commissioner” and 
“provider” is not as clear within Council services 
as it is with health [CCG] services. 
Conflicts may arise as a result of council service 
leads responsible for service delivery also being 
responsible for the evaluation and monitoring. 
This will be mitigated through robust governance 
arrangements.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

The scale of change proposed will undoubtedly 
lead to organisational change. This will be 
managed as the need arises; however, the scale 
of the change and the investment made will 
provide opportunity for current workforce in the 
future. 

Footnote:

Members of NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group – Executive Team will read all papers thoroughly.  Once 
papers are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 22



                                                          

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report Outcome

Public Engagement - (Please detail the 
method  i.e. survey, event, consultation)

N/A

Clinical Engagement - (Please detail the 
method  i.e. survey, event, consultation)

N/A

Has ‘due regard’ been given to 
Equality Analysis (EA) of any adverse 
impacts? - (Please detail outcomes, including 
risks and how these will be managed) 

Legal Advice Sought N/A

1.  Children’s Leadership - various Supported. Paper updated for comments

2. Programme Oversight Group - 17 May 
2019, for review

Supported. Paper updated for comments

3. Service & Finance Group – 4 June 
2019, for review of financial case

Supported. Recommended for presentation to 
CCG Execs for approval of financial investment

4. CCG Executive – 26 June 19, for 
approval of the funding

The investment proposal was supported. 
Comments raised will be incorporated into the 
evaluation updates. A pre-implementation report 
to be submitted to Service & Finance Group 
meeting 3rd September 19.

5. Children and Young Peoples 
Commissioning Group  review 16th July 

6. 0-25 Advisory Board – 17 July 2019, for 
review of the service model

Supported, discussion raised about impact on 
Paediatric Universal services, agreed to include 

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership 
groups) for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

Yes Yes

7. Children’s Committee 24 July 2019, for 
approval of the service model

TBC

P
age 23



                                                          

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is 
clarity in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular 
part of the work. 

P
age 24



                                                          

Salford Best Value Programme: Children’s Service Redesign

1. Executive Summary

At its meeting on 4th June 2019 Service & Finance Group [SFG] supported the request for 
an investment of up to £3.3m from the Salford Best Value Transformational Fund and 
recommended to CCG Executives to approve the funding.
CCG Executives approved the funding at its meeting on 26th June subject to approval of 
the proposed service model by the 0-25 Advisory Board and Children’s Committee. 
The 0-25 Advisory Board approved the service model on 17th July. 
A number of assurances were raised and these will be built into subsequent evaluation and 
reporting updates. The first of these updates will be a pre-implementation report to the 3rd 
September 2019 SFG. 
The investment is to provide non-recurrent funding for up to 2 years, to enable a level of double 
running and to support the subsequent evaluation that will underpin the full business case, with 
focus on prevention and support to young people and families. 

There are 4 principal programmes: No Wrong Door, Achieving Change Together [ACT], 
Transforming Care in Salford/ Special Education Needs [TCS], and Domestic Abuse and Trauma 
Informed Response. £3.3m investment is split across 2 financial years, as follows:

Year 1 2019/20Figures in £000s
Total GM Net

Year 2 
2020/21

2-Year 
Total

No Wrong Door £802 -£330 £472 £1,619 £2,091
ACT / TCS £380 -£330 £50 £308 £358
Domestic Abuse & Trauma £155 0 £155 £280 £435
Infrastructure Support £265 0 £265 £135 £400
Total Costs £1,602 -£660 £942 £2,342 £3,284

GM has provided £660k non-recurrent funding to support Year 1 costs. 

The following assurances will be built into the evaluation and reporting updates:
1. Development of a robust process for evaluation and tracking, aligned to the GM CBA, but 

with focus on the Salford-specific redesign.
2. Presentation of a pre-implementation progress report to September 2019 SFG.
3. Development of an exit plan, in event the redesign doesn’t deliver as planned.
4. 3-monthly updates to CCG and Council governance, to include the following:
 Reconciliation and gap analysis between actual and forecast expenditure, with details of 

overspends and slippage, and
 Financial implications of the workforce and recruitment mobilisation plan, identifying any 

benefits and costs as a result of redeployment of existing Council staff.
5. Full business case[s] to support the recurrent funding to be developed over the next 12 to 15 

months to present to CCG and Council governance in the third quarter of 2020. The full 
business case[s] to include detailed evaluation of the first 12 months.

6. Approval for the service model by Children’s Committee at the meeting on 24th July 2019.

Page 25



                                                          

7. Recommendation

7.1 Salford Childrens Commissioning Committee are asked to approve the service 
model for the children’s redesign programmes.

Page 26



 

                                                          

SALFORD 0-25 ADVISORY BOARD

Item for Discussion/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

*17th July 2019
Report of: Debbie Blackburn, Assistant Director Public 

Health Nursing and Wellbeing, Salford City 
Council
Malcolm Semp, Associate Director – Best Value, 
Salford CCG

Date of Paper: 17th July 2019

Subject: Salford Best Value Programme: Children’s 
Service Redesign - Case for Change Investment 
Proposal

In case of query 
Please contact:

Debbie Blackburn: 
deborah.blackburn@salford.gov.uk
Malcolm Semp: malcolm.semp@nhs.net

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services  

Primary Care

Enabling Transformation  

Purpose of Paper:
To request the 0-25 Advisory Board to approve the service model for the proposed 
redesign of Salford Children’s Services. 

Page 27



 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

Providing a preventative approach to managing 
demand will improve the outcomes residents of 
Salford experience.
There will be a more joined up system wide 
response to a number of elements which will 
reduce longer term impacts from adversity 

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

Risks and mitigations are identified in the paper

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

Non envisaged

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE 
ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT ARE 
THEY AND HOW DOES THIS PAPER 
REDUCE THEM?

The current “health & care” financial gap between 
income and costs will continue to increase unless 
action is taken now. 
This paper identifies children service redesigns 
that address the risk.

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

The distinction between “commissioner” and 
“provider” is not as clear within Council services 
as it is with health [CCG] services. 
Conflicts may arise as a result of council service 
leads responsible for service delivery also being 
responsible for the evaluation and monitoring. 
This will be mitigated through robust governance 
arrangements.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

The scale of change proposed will undoubtedly 
lead to organisational change. This will be 
managed as the need arises; however, the scale 
of the change and the investment made will 
provide opportunity for current workforce in the 
future. 

Footnote:

Members of NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group – Executive Team will read all papers thoroughly.  Once 
papers are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 28



                                                          

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report Outcome

Public Engagement - (Please detail the 
method  i.e. survey, event, consultation)

N/A

Clinical Engagement - (Please detail the 
method  i.e. survey, event, consultation)

N/A

Has ‘due regard’ been given to 
Equality Analysis (EA) of any adverse 
impacts? - (Please detail outcomes, including 
risks and how these will be managed) 

Legal Advice Sought N/A

1.  Children’s Leadership - various Supported. Paper updated for comments

2. Programme Oversight Group - 17 May 
2019, for review

Supported. Paper updated for comments

3. Service & Finance Group – 4 June 
2019, for review of financial case

Supported. Recommended for presentation to 
CCG Execs for approval of financial investment

4. CCG Executive – 26 June 19, for 
approval of the funding

The investment proposal was supported. 
Comments raised will be incorporated into the 
evaluation updates. A pre-implementation report 
to be submitted to Service & Finance Group 
meeting 3rd September 19.

5. Children and Young Peoples 
Commissioning Group  review 16th July 

6. 0-25 Advisory Board – 17 July 2019, 
for review of the service model

TBC

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership 
groups) for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

Yes Yes

7. Children’s Committee 24 July 2019, for 
approval of the service model

TBC

P
age 29



                                                          

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is 
clarity in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular 
part of the work. 

P
age 30



 

                                                          

Salford Best Value Programme: Children’s Service Redesign

1. Executive Summary

At its meeting on 4th June 2019 Service & Finance Group [SFG] supported the request for 
an investment of up to £3.3m from the Salford Best Value Transformational Fund and 
recommended to CCG Executives to approve the funding.
CCG Executives approved the funding at its meeting on 26th June subject to approval of 
the proposed service model by the 0-25 Advisory Board and Children’s Committee. 
A number of assurances were raised and these will be built into subsequent evaluation and 
reporting updates. The first of these updates will be a pre-implementation report to the 3rd 
September 2019 SFG. 
The investment is to provide non-recurrent funding for up to 2 years, to enable a level of double 
running and to support the subsequent evaluation that will underpin the full business case, with 
focus on prevention and support to young people and families. 

There are 4 principal programmes: No Wrong Door, Achieving Change Together [ACT], 
Transforming Care in Salford/ Special Education Needs [TCS], and Domestic Abuse and Trauma 
Informed Response. £3.3m investment is split across 2 financial years, as follows:

Year 1 2019/20Figures in £000s
Total GM Net

Year 2 
2020/21

2-Year 
Total

No Wrong Door £802 -£330 £472 £1,619 £2,091
ACT / TCS £380 -£330 £50 £308 £358
Domestic Abuse & Trauma £155 0 £155 £280 £435
Infrastructure Support £265 0 £265 £135 £400
Total Costs £1,602 -£660 £942 £2,342 £3,284

GM has provided £660k non-recurrent funding to support Year 1 costs. 

The following assurances will be built into the evaluation and reporting updates:
1. Development of a robust process for evaluation and tracking, aligned to the GM CBA, but 

with focus on the Salford-specific redesign.
2. Presentation of a pre-implementation progress report to September 2019 SFG.
3. Development of an exit plan, in event the redesign doesn’t deliver as planned.
4. 3-monthly updates to CCG and Council governance, to include the following:
 Reconciliation and gap analysis between actual and forecast expenditure, with details of 

overspends and slippage, and
 Financial implications of the workforce and recruitment mobilisation plan, identifying any 

benefits and costs as a result of redeployment of existing Council staff.
5. Full business case[s] to support the recurrent funding to be developed over the next 12 to 15 

months to present to CCG and Council governance in the third quarter of 2020. The full 
business case[s] to include detailed evaluation of the first 12 months.

6. Approval for the service model by Children’s Committee at the meeting on 24th July 2019.

Page 31



 

                                                          

7. Recommendation

7.1 Salford 0-25 Advisory Board are asked to approve the service model for the 
children’s redesign programmes.

The following paper was submitted to Service Finance Group [SFG] on 4th 
June 2019.

The investment was approved by CCG Execs on 26th June 2019.

Page 32



 

                                                          

SERVICE AND FINANCE GROUP 
AGENDA ITEM NO
Item for Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  
4th June 2019

Report of: 
Debbie Blackburn, Assistant Director Public Health 
Nursing and Wellbeing, Salford City Council
Malcolm Semp, Associate Director – Best Value, 
Salford CCG

Date of Paper: 4th June 2019

Subject: Salford Best Value Programme: Children’s Service 
Redesign - Case for Change Investment Proposal

In case of query please contact: Debbie Blackburn: 
deborah.blackburn@salford.gov.uk
Malcolm Semp: malcolm.semp@nhs.net

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality of Care 

Population Health and Prevention 

Integrated Community Based Care and Long Term Conditions 

Transforming Hospital Care

Mental Health and Learning Disabilities

Enabling Transformation 

Purpose of Paper:
To request investment from the Best Value Transformation Fund of up to £3,284k to 
support the redesign of children’s services. 

The proposed investment will provide non-recurrent funding to enable a level of double running 
and to support the subsequent evaluation that will underpin the full business case.

The full business case, to support recurrent funding, will be developed over the next 12 to 15 
months to present to CCG and Council governance in the third quarter of 2020. 

This paper brings a number of key service redesigns together in one place to provide assurance 
that all relevant costs are considered and benefits are not double-counted. The focus is on 
prevention and support to young people and families. 

The principal programmes are (i) No Wrong Door, (ii) Achieving Change Together, (iii) 
Transforming Care in Salford/Special Education Needs, and (iv) Domestic Abuse and Trauma 
Informed Response.

A key impact of this programme will be a reduction in high-cost care packages, particularly for 
those young people having to be placed out of borough. Each placement costs around £200k per 
annum - and there were 46 at March 2019. 

Further benefits are outlined in the paper and include an aim to mitigate significant need in terms 
of emotional health & well-being and mental health across the life course.

Page 33



 

                                                          

Predicting likely benefits is difficult in view of uncertainty over future growth, the timing of bringing 
placements back into borough, and interdependencies between the various programmes; 
however, we have evaluated potential benefits using 3 scenarios, which we have compared to the 
expected “Do Nothing” scenario. The 3 scenarios are summarised in Section 4 and Appendix 7. 
Potential benefits range between a “worst case” scenario of £3.9m and a “best case” scenario of 
£8.0m. 
The most “likely” scenario delivers a recurrent [cost-avoidance] benefit of £5.3m: this is based on 
detailed work-force costings by the children’s team - included as Appendix 8.
The detailed business case will evaluate costs and benefits with a level of certainty as it will be 
based on 12 months of actual performance.

Page 34



 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP?

Providing a preventative approach to managing 
demand will improve the outcomes residents of 
Salford experience.
There will be a more joined up system wide 
response to a number of elements which will 
reduce longer term impacts from adversity 

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW CAN 
THEY BE MITIGATED? 

Risks and mitigations are identified in the paper

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

Non envisaged

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH OR EXTREME 
RISKS FACING THE ORGANISATION?  
IF SO WHAT ARE THEY AND HOW 
DOES THIS PAPER REDUCE THEM?

The current “health & care” financial gap between 
income and costs will continue to increase unless 
action is taken now. 
This paper identifies children service redesigns 
that address the risk.

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

The distinction between “commissioner” and 
“provider” is not as clear within Council services 
as it is with health [CCG] services. 
Conflicts may arise as a result of council service 
leads responsible for service delivery also being 
responsible for the evaluation and monitoring. 
This will be mitigated through robust governance 
arrangements.

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

The scale of change proposed will undoubtedly 
lead to organisational change. This will be 
managed as the need arises; however, the scale 
of the change and the investment made will 
provide opportunity for current workforce in the 
future. 

Footnote:

Members of NHS Salford Clinical Commissioning Group – Service and Finance Group will read all papers 
thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 35



                                                          

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)

N/A

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, event, consultation)

N/A

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how these 
will be managed) 

Legal Advice Sought N/A

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) for 
engagement or other formal governance 
groups for comments / approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

Yes (i) Children’s Leadership- 
various

(ii) Programme Oversight 
Group 17 May 19

(i) Approved with 
paper updated for 
comments.

(ii) Approved with 
paper updated for 
comments.

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work. 

P
age 36



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 11

1. Management Summary

The latest financial review estimates that without mitigating action now the gap between 
costs and income across Salford health and care services will be £25m by the end of 
2022/23: £20m of the £25m relates to children’s services.

Salford CCG and Council established the Best Value Programme to identify, develop and 
implement service change to deliver efficiencies to close the financial gap. 

£4m has been set aside from CCG allocations to support invest to save transformational 
change in Salford children’s services - the Best Value Transformation Fund.

The principal pressures on children’s services are schools grant and the increasing number 
of young people placed in out of borough residential care. The annual cost of each out of 
borough placement is around £200k.

Placements have more than doubled in the 3 years March 16 [22] to March 19 [46], an 
increase in costs of almost £5m. The trend is inexorably upwards and indicates that out of 
borough placements [OOBPs] could be as high as 60 by March 2021 and 85 by March 2024. 
Appendix 9 details the trend in placements.

Children’s Leadership have identified 7 Best Value programmes for investment, 4 of which 
are expected to result in a significant reduction in OOBPs: No Wrong Door, Transforming 
Care in Salford [the Ealing Model], Special Education Needs, and Achieving Change 
Together. 
There are also 3 supporting models fundamental to delivery of the whole-system service 
redesigns: Domestic Abuse and Trauma Informed, Mental Health, and Speech & Language. 

Domestic Abuse and Trauma Informed is considered integral to the BV placement 
programmes and is included with this investment request. Mental Health and Speech & 
Language will be funded from other sources. 

Total investment request is £3,284k over the 2 years ending March 2021, as follows:

Total GM Inv't Net
No Wrong Door £802.0 -£330.0 £472.0 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £1,618.5
Transforming Care/SEND £240.0 -£190.0 £50.0 £208.0 £158.0 £158.0 £158.0
Achieving Care Together £140.0 -£140.0 £0.0 £100.0 £100.0 £100.0 £100.0
Domestic Abuse & Trauma Informed £155.2 £0.0 £155.2 £280.3 £255.3 £255.3 £250.3
Infrastructure Support £265.0 £0.0 £265.0 £135.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0
TOTAL £1,602.1 -£660.0 £942.1 £2,341.8 £2,131.8 £2,131.8 £2,126.8

Year 1 2019/20 Costs
Programme Year 4 

2022/23
Year 5 

2023/24
Year 2 

2020/21
Year 3 

2021/22

Salford BVTF Investment £3,283.9
See Appendix 6 for details by programme.

Page 37



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 12

The first draft financial evaluation of No Wrong Door [NWD] indicates a potential annual 
recurrent benefit of c£5.3m, as a result of a reduction in placements. The £5.3m represents 
£8.6m lower costs due to reducing placements, offset by anticipated increased costs of 
£3.3m – see Appendix 8.

The additional costs of £3.3m comprise £1.6m for “Hub” staffing plus £1.7m for the 
anticipated increase in Independent Fostering Arrangements [IFAs]. We have assumed that 
each placement brought back into Salford results in an additional IFA [at £40k per annum]: 
this is an extremely prudent view as evidence from NWD implementation in other areas 
[Wigan Borough and North Yorkshire] suggests reductions in both OOBPs and IFAs can be 
expected. We will fully evaluate the impact of placements and IFAs in the detailed business 
case.

The net benefit of £5.3m takes no account of additional benefit attributable to other service 
areas as a result of NWD and other redesign investments; for example, paediatric A&E 
admissions, CAMHS activity, substance misuse, and the number of young people missing 
from home and care homes. 

Also, once the NWD Hub is fully up and running the need for residential home places is 
expected to reduce, enabling closure of residential homes over time. No benefit is assumed 
at this stage and any benefit as a result of estate realisation will be developed and evaluated 
in collaboration with CCG and Council Estates Departments.

We have estimated the worst case scenario based on there being no financial benefit 
whatsoever resulting from any of the areas identified and with growth assumption reduced 
from 5 a year to 3 a year. If this did happen the net benefit would reduce from £5.3m to 
£3.9m. 

Assuming approval of the investment request at the 4th June 2019 Service & Finance Group 
meeting [and ratification by Children’s Commissioning Committee and CCG Executive], 
recruitment will commence in early July with a projected go live of early December 2019. 

A detailed business case will be prepared for submission in the third quarter of 2020, 
supported by 12 months evaluation of all costs and benefits impact.

Recommendations are included in Section 7, together with assurances regarding 
future reporting of progress and update reports to Council and CCG governance. 

Work completed to date
The Children’s Team commenced a comprehensive review of residential placements in 
January 2019, with the following objectives.

1. Review of current tariffs and wherever possible to negotiate lower prices. This work has 
already identified potential annual saving of £120k as a result of negotiating lower weekly 
tariffs with providers. These benefits are included in this model in the best case scenario 
only.

2. Explore alternative placement options for a cohort of 17 young people aged 7 to 15 
currently in an IFA placement. Average IFA costs are £40k per annum. This work is in 
progress.

3. Explore alternative placement options for the cohort of 34 CYP aged 7 to 15 in an 
external residential placement. The review has identified 11 CYP currently in placements 
where the children’s team believe they would be suitable to bring back into Salford. 
Weekly costs range from £3.0k to £6.3k [average £4.2k] – an average annual cost of 

Page 38



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 13

£217k for each. This work is on track to achieve the target 3 placements brought back 
into Salford in Year 1 [2019/20], with a further 8 in Year 2 [2020/21].

4. Explore in-house fostering options for the youngest cohort of 4 children, aged under 10 
years of age in an IFA.

5. Identify the cohort of young people in residential placements to discuss at the GM 
Complex Fostering Meeting, for whom living in a family environment is appropriate.

6. Concurrently explore in-house fostering and IFA placements, identifying options for a 
fostering request.

7. A needs assessment is underway for Domestic Abuse with findings expected at the end 
of June 2019.

8. A case for change for the work around Adversity has been approved via Salford City 
Council.

9. Cases have been identified for the Transforming Care work and work with families will 
commence at the end of June 2019. 

10. Discussions to make the links to adult provision such as Perinatal Mental Health and the 
Living Well Salford Model [this will require further development as part of the All Age 
Mental Health Strategy Work].

A number of appendices are attached to provide additional information in support of the 
investment request.

Appendix

1 Detailed No Wrong Door “case for change”

2 First draft risks and mitigation

3 First draft evaluation and tracking metrics

4 Financial support to “best case” £8.0m and “worst case” scenarios - £3.9m

5 Infrastructure support - £400k

6 Cost details – for the 5 programmes

7 No Wrong Door “Do Nothing” scenario

8 No Wrong Door “Likely” scenario [£5.3m benefit compared to “Do Nothing”

9 Salford Out of Borough Placements Trend

2. Theory of Change

2.1 There are 5 identified principal components to the service model:
 What we are trying to improve?
 How will we make this happen?
 What are the indicators of success?
 How it will be different, and 

 What impact will this have?

Page 39



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 14

These are detailed further in Appendix 1.

A brief description of the key programmes is below - detailed further in the appendices.

2.2 No Wrong Door [NWD]
NWD is an integrated service for adolescents with complex needs that brings together a 
team of specialists working together through a shared practice framework. The model 
operates as an edge of care/outreach service, focused around a re-purposed children’s 
home that acts as a hub to bring together a multi-disciplinary team: including a clinical 
psychologist, police, speech & language therapist and other specialist social workers.

The model is aimed at young people aged 12 to 17 on the edge of care, edging to care, 
and in care – though in some instances may stay in contact with young people up to the 
age of 25. 

A NWD service may have a live caseload of around 40 at any one time, and work in 
some way with more than 200 young people in a given year.

NWD objectives include:
 An overall reduction in spend on commissioned placements,
 Helping young people with their emotional and mental health,
 Reducing risk, by addressing criminal behaviour and reducing arrests/involvement in 

the criminal justice system,
 Reducing risk, by working with young people who often go missing from home/care,
 Helping some of the cohort with their substance misuse issues,
 Working successfully with young people dis-engaged from schooling, or young adults 

who are NEET,
 Reducing young people A&E attendances.

2.3 Transforming Care in Salford [TCS] and Special Educational Needs [SEND]
TCS will focus on supporting those families who fall into crisis due to compounding 
issues such as SEND, distressed behaviour and have a diagnosis of learning disability 
and/or autistic spectrum disorder or are at risk of coming into the care system. The 
objective is to reduce the number of young people in out of borough residential and 
school placements. 

Key components of the project will be to provide therapeutic support via education 
psychology provision and to provide short-term breaks to young people and families. 
This will require working with families whose children are most at risk of admission or 
residential placement and by taking a long term approach to preventing long-term 
residential placement in adulthood. 

TCS is a specialist service providing intensive support to a small number of young 
people [aged 5-17 years] and it is expected the TCS team will work with between 7 and 
10 families over a year. The model provides support to manage distressed behaviour 
with the aim that young people at high risk of requiring a residential placement can 
remain with their families and access support in their community for as long as possible. 
This provides a cost-effective, flexible alternative to expensive, often out-of-area, 
residential placements or schools. There are four phases to provision of care:
1. Assessment and care planning,
2. Intensive therapy and training on behavioural support,

Page 40



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 15

3. An option for a 2 to 3-week short break [for family or child], and 
4. Step-down and transfer to learning disabilities teams, or discharge, where 

appropriate. 

2.4 Achieving Change Together [ACT]
ACT is a strengths, relationship and evidence-based model for working with young 
people at risk of exploitation, who are also at risk of entry into care, placement 
breakdown or escalation of care. 

The model is built around an ACT worker, who works intensively with a small cohort of 
around 6 cases, typically for at least 12 months. Ultimate aim of the model is to improve 
outcomes for young people and their families and provide effective alternatives to high-
cost and secure accommodation. ACT objectives include:

 An overall reduction in spend on commissioned placements,
 Helping young people with their emotional and mental health,
 Reducing risk, for young people vulnerable to exploitation and associated criminality,
 Reducing risk, by working with young people who often go missing from home/care.
 Helping some of the cohort with their substance misuse issues,
 Working successfully with young people dis-engaged from schooling.

2.5 Domestic Abuse and Trauma Informed 
Children and young people often present with distressed behaviour, this can be as a result of 
trauma and adversity at home including but not exclusively due to domestic abuse, physical 
violence, sexual abuse, parental separation, parental mental health issues, parental 
substance misuse, emotional neglect, physical neglect, verbal abuse, and social 
experiences, such as bullying, homelessness, CSE, crime [known as Adverse Childhood 
Experiences or ACEs]. 

This proposal is a placeholder to ensure funding is available to implement the findings from a 
commissioned needs assessment as part of the Best Value programme. 

Research indicates that there are key mitigating actions that can take place to build 
resilience and to help minimise harm due to exposure to trauma and adversity. Having 
access to therapeutic interventions and support are part of this. This proposal would build a 
therapeutic offer to support those children who have been known to have experienced 
trauma and adversity including domestic abuse. This could include interventions which 
mitigate the impact of the issue the child is experiencing: 

 Training for the whole workforce and development of a trauma informed workforce across 
the entire City and review all polices, practices and procedure through trauma lenses e.g. 
managed moves and school exclusions.

 Development of the Domestic Abuse Approach once the findings of the Needs 
Assessment are known, utilising the DA coordinator role to support delivery of training 
and support for the system linked to the development of the Early Help hubs. 

 Supporting and reducing parental distress, via parenting support via early identification of 
domestic abuse via operation encompass and early help roll out and linked to the Living 
Well Salford Model [adult mental health support], EMDR step 3, and Step 3+ develop and 
Adult ACEs pathway [funded via the GM Population Health funding]. 

Page 41



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 16

 Neglect - developing a response based on the findings from the Neglect Needs 
Assessment currently underway [May 2019]. 

 Parent and Infant Mental Health work - further development of the approaches to 
attachment disorder tested by the population health monies including further spread of 
the Universal Antenatal Parenting Programme, develop an approach to Parent and Infant 
Mental Health and Newborn Behavioural Observation work, and development of a SEND 
parenting support. 

 Attachment Disorders and ACEs - emotion coaching helps school and college staff to 
distinguish between behaviour and the feelings that underlie that behaviour, using 
empathy to validate and communicate about these feelings. They should then be able to 
set limits to the behaviour while continuing to acknowledge the pupil’s feelings and help 
the young person to address their problems, which would be linked to our Population 
Health Funded Emotionally Friendly Schools work.

 Mental Wellbeing - mentoring for pupils including peer to peer support (with coaching 
from adults), development of Salford as an emotionally friendly city, further development 
of the CAMHS link work, development of play therapy, training for schools [linked to 
EFS], development of the role of Early Help practitioners, access for children and young 
people to counselling services through schools and in neighbourhoods supporting 
parents of children with anxiety, support in year 7 and 8 around transition. 

 SEND - rollout of the SEND pathfinder based on the evaluation and recommendations of 
the work, further development of the Ealing Model, working on what works at SEND 
support, and development of local evidence for what psycho-educational interventions 
can work at a preventative level in schools, linked to parental mental health support.

 Wider transformation around development of the Peterborough [Ealing] Model, EWB 
practitioners Assistant EPs and Educational Psychologist to offer and oversee 
preventative school based interventions for children and parents e.g. Video Interactive 
Guidance.

Further development of these proposals would be required in consultation with partners and 
as a whole system and would require support from a team of staff who can provide oversight, 
training and support to staff who themselves may be experiencing trauma. 

The impact of this distress often affects social relationships, ability to learn and can result in 
anti-social behaviour and exclusion, if we do not respond appropriately the often likely 
outcome for children and young people affected by the above factors includes:
 Reducing Exclusion from school,
 Reduced CAMHS waiting and access times,
 Increased confidence in front line professionals/ parents,
 Reduced exposure to ACES,
 Becoming Looked After [not necessarily SEND children],
 Requirement for interventions such as No Wrong Door or ACT, 
 Reduced external SEND provision [linked to the Ealing Model],
 Serious violence, 
 Serious and organised crime, 
 Intergenerational continuation of the symptoms of Trauma,
 Reduction of NEET.

Page 42



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 17

3. Background and Context

Salford Best Value Programme is a joint Council and CCG programme established to 
identify, develop and implement service change to deliver efficiencies to close the financial 
gap between income and costs. 

Across the CCG and Council, the size of the financial gap for health and social care has 
been estimated at £25m by the end of 2022/23 if no action is taken, of which at least £20m 
relates to children’s services, comprising:

 Baseline pressure of £10m [primarily relating to school grants],

 Growth of £5m [at c£1.5m each of 3 years], and

 Cost improvement programmes of £5m [at c£1.7m in each of 3 years].   

£4m has been set aside from the CCG’s allocation to support “invest to save” 
transformational change in Salford Children’s services- known as “Best Value Transformation 
fund” [BVTF].

Salford Children’s Leadership Team identified 7 principal work-streams: 4 transformational 
programmes linked to placement pressure, and 3 service redesign & evaluation programmes 
where long term investment cases may be needed.

The 4 “placement” programmes are:
1. No Wrong Door [NWD],
2. Transforming Care in Salford – the Ealing Model [TCS],
3. Special Educational Needs [SEND],
4. Achieving Change Together [ACT].
[5.] Domestic Abuse and a Trauma Informed Response to Adversity – this is considered 
integral to the placements programme and is therefore included with this investment request.

The 2 remaining service redesign programmes are:
6. Mental Health,
7. Speech and Language.

There are 3 key financial tasks identified:

1. To establish the overall “case for change” to release funding for the 5 transformational 
investment programmes. This will include how the transformation work will both assist 
outcomes for children and reduce the current financial pressures. Covered in this paper.

2. Establish CBA tracking of the work on investment programmes alongside evaluation of 
programme impact. This will be in addition to existing budget monitoring work. To be 
evaluated in the full business cases, third quarter of 2020.

3. Establish CBA tracking on the other joint programmes to evidence need or otherwise for 
longer term investment. Subsequent evaluations throughout the duration of the 5-
year programme.

A key impact of the proposed “invest to save” service redesigns will be to reduce costs on 
young people placements through cost avoidance of existing cohort of young people plus 
containment of future growth.

The “placements” programmes anchor to NWD and TCS models, NWD is a nationally-
recognised model that has already demonstrated significant reductions in OOBPs in those 

Page 43



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 18

areas where it has been implemented [e.g. North Yorkshire]. NWD is an integrated service 
for adolescents with complex needs that brings together a team of specialists working 
together through a shared practice framework.

NWD is currently being developed in 6 GM localities: Salford, Trafford, Stockport, 
Manchester, Rochdale and Wigan and is supported by non-recurrent GM funding. Salford is 
in receipt of £330k to fund Year 1 costs.

Transforming Care model will be rolled out to all localities based on the Salford learning. 

In addition to the £330k for NWD, GM has also provided Year 1 support funding for ACT 
[£140k] and TCS [£190k] – a total of £660k.

The total investment request to Service & Finance Group is for up to £3,284k to 
support development of the following children’s BV programmes:
1. £2,090k to support development of NWD. This is after deducting the £330k GM funding.

2. £100k to support ACT. Year 1 costs of £140k are covered by GM £140k investment. 

3. £258k to support TCS. Year 1 costs of £240k are offset by GM £190k investment, Year 2 
costs are £208k. 

4. £436k to support domestic abuse, trauma & adversity redesign. 

5. £400k for children’s infrastructure costs for service, commission and corporate support. A 
redesign of the SALT service is in progress and no additional investment from the BVTF 
is anticipated.  

4. Financial Overview

The financial benefit evaluations compare the NWD model to the “Do Nothing” scenario. 

Three scenarios are considered, each measured against “Do Nothing”:

1. “Likely” Scenario: OOBPs are brought back into Salford with a corresponding increase in 
IFAs. No further benefits from other service redesigns are assumed until underpinned by 
the detailed evaluation - £5.3m.

2. “Worst Case” Scenario: takes a more prudent view of growth and assumes additional 
cost pressures from other programmes [ACT, TCS/SEND and Domestic Abuse] - £3.9m.

3. “Best Case” Scenario: assumes higher growth and benefit from residential home closures 
- £8.0m.  

4.1 Baseline Activity and Cost Assumptions

 Baseline OOBPs is 46 – the actual at March 2019.

 Baseline Independent Foster Arrangements [IFAs] is 63 – actual at March 2019.

 Looked after Children is 585, actual at March 2019,

 Average OOBPs annual costs are £200k, ranging from £105k to £310k.

 IFAs annual costs are £40k.

 Residential costs are £3.7m, for the 7 Salford Residential Homes. No benefits or costs 
are included for any impact of residential home closures, except in the “best case” 
scenario.

Page 44



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 19

 The recent increase in fostering payments is included [£460k]. The increase is offset by 
£460k non-recurrent Council income in Year 1 only.

 No cost inflation is included in any of the scenarios.

The “Do Nothing” and “Likely” scenario are detailed below. The “best” and worst” case are 
included as Appendix 4.

4.2 The “Do Nothing” Scenario

 OOBPs are 46 at March 19, assumed to be the baseline. Growth assumption is 4 per 
annum i.e. an increase of 20 over the 5 years, to March 2024. OOBPs in September 
2018 were 42 and at that time the trend prediction was 50 by March 20. 

 The latest growth prediction [per trend analysis – Appendix 9] is 85 by March 2024. To 
be prudent we have assumed OOBPs will grow to only 66 by March 24, representing only 
50% of the growth predicted by the trend.

 IFAs have remained constant over the last 3 years and are assumed to remain constant 
over the 5-year period, at 63.

 Residential costs remain unchanged over the 5 years, with no closures and no additions.
 The “Do Nothing” costs are summarised below and detailed in Appendix 7. The Do 

Nothing cost increase is £4,460k by March 2024.

Do Nothing - Figures in £000s 18/19 
Baseline

23/24 
Year 5

Baseline 46 OOBPs @ £200k £9,200 £9,200

Growth @ 4 per year = 20 [50% of trend growth] £4,000

IFAs 63 @ £40k £2,520 £2,520

Costs [excluding fostering increase] £9,552 £9,552

Fostering Increase £460

Total Costs £21,272 £25,732

4.3 Scenario 1: The “Likely” Scenario – see Appendix 8 for details

 Of the 4 new OOBPs each year, 3 will be contained within the NWD model. 

 Each OOBP brought back into Salford will result in an IFA i.e. a financial benefit of £160k 
[i.e. £200k OOB less IFA cost of £40k]. 

Note: reports from North Yorkshire indicate NWD has all but eliminated IFAs; however, 
we have adopted a more prudent approach in view of the different Salford demographics. 

1. The target for bringing OOBPs back into Salford is 30, from the baseline 46 - 6 in Year 1, 
10 in Year 2, 10 in Year 3 and 4 in Year 4. Six months impact is assumed for financial 
benefits i.e. the 6 returning in 19/20 and 10 in 20/21 will result in a full-year impact of 3 in 
19/20 and 8 in 20/21.

2. As a result of the investment it is expected that a number of IFAs will be able to be 
managed within the home environment, either as home fostering or managed within the 
young person’s own home; however, no benefit is assumed in this model.

Page 45



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 20

3. Expectations are that a number of in-house residential homes will be able to be closed 
over the 5-year period as the NWD model is developed. However, no benefits are 
assumed here until an accurate estates strategy can be developed and evaluated with 
the Council and CCG Estates Department. It is critical to the success of the “whole-
system” model that cost avoidance programmes are only developed and implemented 
when appropriate.

4. Scenario 2 costs are summarised below and detailed in Appendix 5.

Scenario 1 - Figures in £000s 23/24 Year 5
Do Nothing

23/24 Year 5

Baseline 46 OOBPs @ £200k £9,200 £9,200

Growth @ 4 per year = 20 [50% of trend growth] £4,000 £4,000

43 of the 66 OOBPs brought back to Salford (£8,600)

Baseline IFAs 63 @ £40k £2,520 £2,520

43 Additional IFAs [1 for each OOBP avoided] £1,720

Costs [excluding fostering increase] £9,552 £9,552

Fostering Increase £460 £460

Additional No Wrong Door Hub Costs £1,619

Total Costs £25,732 £20,471

Cost avoidance / growth containment £5,261

5 Programme Plan

Date - 2019 Governance

By mid-May Children’s Leadership Team / Lead Member to agree the plan 

By end May Children’s Advisory Board support plan

17th May Programme Oversight Group – for review and discussion only

4th June CCFG Service & Finance Group – to review the financial case for 
change to make recommendation to the CCG Executive

End-June 19 CCG Executive to approve the funding TBC

13th June 19 0 – 25 Advisory Board to review the service model

24th July Children’s Committee – approval of the service model

Mid-July Development proposal for Domestic Abuse, Trauma and Adversity - 
based on needs assessment

Mid-July Develop proposal for Neglect work - based on needs assessment

Mid-July Commence recruitment

Early December No Wrong Door implementation to commence

Page 46



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 21

6 Risks, Governance, Evaluation and Tracking

6.1 Risks and Mitigation
As the programmes progresses the risk register will be updated and form part of the progress 
reports. A number of risks have already been identified, with mitigations– see Appendix 2.

The investment request is for non-recurrent funding to allow a level of double running and to 
support an evaluation to provide evidence that underpins a full business case request for 
recurrent funding. Governance will be developed that ensures: 
1. Establishment of a Project Group comprising membership with the skill-set appropriate to 

effectively manage the programmes. This is not intended to replicate or replace individual 
programme management but to sit alongside, to ensure effective delivery of milestones 
and timelines. 
It is expected the Project Group will comprise the following individuals [to be confirmed by 
CCG and Council Leadership]:-

 Business Intelligence /Data Analyst – to oversee development of processes and 
systems to ensure evaluation and tracking from the outset. This is particularly 
important for effective programme evaluation, as processes and systems to provide 
the data and intelligence needed are likely not currently in place.

 Finance lead.
 Service lead / programme lead to oversee development, mobilisation and 

implementation of service redesigns, to provide early warning of risks and issues. 
 Estates lead – to ensure estates rationalisation as a result of potential closure of in-

house residential homes is a collaborative exercise that aligns to CCG/ Council 
Estates Strategy.

 Chair – independent of the service development, to ensure objectivity and no 
conflicts of interest.

2. Reporting to CCG and Council governance, as follows:
 September 2019, for a first update reporting OOBP and IFA numbers for the 9 

months, from January 2019 when the children case review commenced.
 March 2020, initial tracking of key metrics identified in Section 6.3 below. This will 

evidence whether OOBP and IFA activity predictions are on track. This will be a high-
level overview only to provide assurance that programmes are on track, or not, so 
timely corrective action can be developed.

 By November 2019, full business case, to include detailed evaluation of the metrics in 
Section 6.3 below.

6.2 Evaluation and Tracking
This investment request is for non-recurrent funding to allow a level of double running 
and to support a detailed evaluation that will provide evidence to underpin the full 
business case request for recurrent funding. 

The principal output of this programme is the November 2020 business case to support 
the case for recurrent funding. Consequently, the evaluation must be sufficiently robust to 
provide the assurance to CCG and Council Leadership that enables them to support the 
request for recurrent funding. 

Page 47



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 22

It is particularly important to ensure that supporting process and systems or in place [and 
developed if not] to enable data collection measurement, reporting, evaluation and 
tracking of the key outputs, outcomes and impacts.

Appendix 3 is an initial draft of proposed metrics for evaluation and tracking. This will be 
updated as the programmes develop. 

6.3 Greater Manchester Cost Benefit Analysis Tool
The GM Combined Authority has produced a No Wrong Door Cost Benefits Analysis 
Model. This is a detailed paper that covers all costs and potential benefits, both 
quantitative and qualitative. 

We have met with the GMCA to discuss the use of this document to support the Salford 
NWD business case and have agreed that we will use the CBA tool to support future 
iterations, once we have developed the supporting systems and processes necessary to 
capture, measure, report, evaluate and track supporting data.

7 Recommendations

Service and Finance Group are asked to approve investment of £3,284k from the Best 
Value Transformation Fund to support the children’s redesign programmes, as 
follows.
1. £2,090k to support development of NWD. This is after deducting the £330k GM funding.

2. £100k to support ACT. Year 1 costs of £140k are covered by GM £140k investment. 

3. £258k to support TCS. Year 1 costs of £240k are offset by GM £190k investment, Year 2 
costs are £208k. 

4. £436k to support domestic abuse and Trauma Informed Response. 

5. £400k for children’s infrastructure costs for service, commission and corporate support. 

Investment will be subject to following assurances:
1. 3-monthly updates to CCG and Council governance as determined by CCG and Council 

Leadership]. Updates will include the following information:

 Reconciliation and gap analysis between actual and forecast expenditure, with 
details of overspends and slippage.

 Workforce and recruitment, identifying benefits and costs as a result of redeployment 
and double-running.

 Programme for data collection, measurement, reporting, evaluation and tracking. 
Aligned to the GM CBA where appropriate.

 A programme plan to include details of (a) work completed, (b) work in progress, and 
(c) work planned for the following quarter. 

2. Full business case[s] for submission to CCG and Council governance in the third quarter 
of 2020 [by end November 2020 at the latest]. The business cases to include detailed 
evaluation of the first 12 months.

Page 48



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 23

Appendix 1
No Wrong Door “Case for Change
The 5 principal components to the service model are discussed below:

What are we trying to Improve?
 Better engage with adolescents in care and those on the edge of care.  Our priority is to 

better understand their early life experiences and improve their emotional wellbeing and 
prevent unnecessary drift and delay for placement options,

 Salford has an increasing number of Looked after Children in particular adolescents and 
many who have a short period in care,

 Complex safeguarding Service with Achieving Change Together Model [ACT] being 
implemented to support young people at risk of exploitation in a more meaningful and 
positive way,

 Salford has poor outcomes for adolescents with placement breakdowns and a shortage 
of foster placements.

What impact will this have on young people and families?
 As healthy and safe as possible,
 Achieve the best educational outcomes,
 As well equipped for adult life as they can be,
 Have a sense of belonging and value,
 Aspirations and opportunities to achieve them.

How are we going to make this happen?
 Create a service which ‘does with’ rather than ‘does to’ adolescents and ensures young 

people have the right support at the right time to deal with past and present trauma,
 Early rapid response at the first sign of need,
 Recruit staff that will challenge the system,
 Provide evidence based intervention approaches and models,
 Embed Family Group Conferencing as the core offer,
 Influencing and shaping the IFA market to support our needs going forward,
 Review all external placements.

Indicators of success – Age 12 to 17 NWD cohort
 Improved emotional wellbeing,
 Improved education and job opportunities*,
 Reduction in the number of school exclusions*,
 Success will be measured by the % use of the SDQ system at the beginning and end of 

interventions*,
 % of young people engaging with key worker from the Hub,
 Reduction in the % of the overall admissions for 12-17 year olds coming into care,
 % of 12-17 year olds who return home within the short period of being accommodated in 

the Hub*,

Page 49



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 24

 % of placement stability (number of placement moves)*,
 Reduction in adolescent crime*,
 Greater number of Foster Carers approved for 12-17 year olds*,
 Reduction of the use of expensive external residential placements,
 % of young people placed in external residential with CSE,
 Reduction in acute presentations at A&E of 12-17 year olds*.

For those highlighted, the NWD cohort(s) will be reported on and measured against 
comparator groups, while it is also hoped to see an overall improvement across the 
service.

How will it be different?
 Young people access the right support at the right time and in one place,
 Young people feel safe in their placements,
 Young people are  no longer placed in external residential provisions,
 Young people have a choice of creative placements. Culture enables young people and 

carers to have respite,
 Staff across the partnership feel skilled, motivated and confident in working with young 

people and their families,
 Employment contracts enable flexibility in meeting the needs of young people,
 Changed from a client social work model to a relationally solution,
 Safeguarding risks are reframed with systems that are flexible to new issues / problems 

and age appropriate,
 Greater support provided to foster carers from NWD Hub and a culture where foster 

carers are part of our professional network,
 Foster placements available for adolescents.

Page 50



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 25

Appendix 2
Risks and Mitigations

Risk Mitigation
If the initiatives described do not deliver 
the expected benefits i.e. improved 
outcomes for children, reduced growth in 
placements and reduced demand for 
placements, then the programme will not 
be sustained.

 Each initiative is subject to an evidence-based review.
 Regular monitoring will in place to highlight this risk 

early on. This will be monitored by the Project 
Steering Group. See 3.2 below.

 CCG investment is non-recurrent so limiting total CCG 
financial risk. Success/failure of the programme will 
be made apparent, through the regular updates and 
progress reports, in 2019 and 2020.

1

Note: CCG financial risk is mitigated, but not the risk to the Integrated Commissioning Arrangement - 
the “gap” may remain, but without any further funding available to invest in new programmes.

If the programme delivers benefits more 
slowly than expected the non-recurrent 
funding may expire before a business 
case is prepared.
Programme’s timescales could slip for a 
number of reasons, the most likely being:
 Difficulty in recruitment to the 

additional posts.
 Redeployment, re-training & changes 

from current service delivery to the 
future service delivery e.g. making 
changes across multiple teams.

 Dedicated resource to deliver programme is included 
in the proposal to ensure there is sufficient capacity to 
deliver the programme.

 Regular monitoring and governance is in place to 
highlight this early on – though this will only ensure 
appropriate progress reporting and early warnings, it 
will not mitigate against non-delivery.

 There is clear leadership and governance structure, 
support and sign-up through partners to prioritise this 
work in the year.

2

NB: Risk is not fully mitigated – recruitment /workforce slippage is not entirely in the gift of the partners.

If the programme is not managed 
effectively then it is unlikely to succeed. 
There may be a number of reasons how 
this would be manifested e.g. not able to 
access monitoring information.

A dedicated resource proposal is included below – 
suggested membership for Children’s BV Project Steering 
Group. This membership will ensure from the outset of the 
project processes are developed to oversee delivery, 
evaluation and management of the programme.

3

Risk is not fully mitigated – is dependent on the partners making the necessary resources available 
[capacity and capability] and with appropriate backfill].

Page 51



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 26

Appendix 3
Performance Evaluations Metrics

Metric “First Draft” Potential Evaluation

1 Out of borough Placements [OOBPs]- baseline  Tracking of the “46” baseline OOBPs

2 Out of borough Placements [OOBPs]- growth  Case review of young people entering the 
system and whether redesigned system is 
successfully directing away from OOBP

3 Independent Fostering Arrangements [IFAs]  Tracking of the “63” baseline IFAs
 Volume change as a result of OOBPs brought 

back into Salford and growth containment

4 Recruitment – new staff redeployment  Workforce update under-pinned by cash-flow 
identifying new vs. redeployment 

5 In-house Residential home closures  Estates strategy / forward plan

6 Helping young people with their emotional and 
mental health

 Use of SDQ questionnaire in LAC-linked to the 
i-start programme and hub, in other services 
linked to Emotionally Friendly Settings work 

7 Reducing risk, by addressing criminal behaviour 
and reducing arrests/involvement in the criminal 
justice system

 TBC
 Police evaluation

8 Reducing risk, by working with young people 
who often go missing from home/care

 TBC
 Police evaluation

9 Helping some of the cohort with their substance 
misuse issues

 TBC
 Tracking activity / outcomes

10 Working successfully with young people dis-
engaged from schooling, or young adults who 
are NEET

 TBC
 Tracking activity / outcomes

11 Reducing young people A&E attendances  Activity tracking with acute/community provider

12 Reducing CAMMHS activity  Activity tracking with acute/community provider

13 Children safely remaining within the family home 
due to appropriate safeguards being in place 
[domestic abuse]. 
Children’s increased positive educational 
engagement, emotional & behavioural wellbeing

 Evidenced reduced domestic abuse across the 
city. 

 Increased use of foster carers

14 Alignment with the Adult Mental Health – Living 
Well Salford Model

 TBC with integrated Mental Health 
Commissioning Team 

Page 52



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 27

Appendix 4

Financial Evaluations 

Scenario 2: The “Worst Case” Scenario

 Growth assumption is 3 per year. Total “Do Nothing” is 61 [baseline 46 plus 15 “growth”].

 Of the 3 growth, 2 will be contained within the model. 

 Each OOBP brought back into Salford will result in an IFA. 

 No benefit is assumed from residential home closure.

 Year 3 ACT, TCS, Domestic Abuse costs [£513k] included as additional cost pressure.

Scenario 2
Figures in £000s

2023/24 Year 5
Do Nothing

2023/24 
Year 5

Baseline 46 OOBPs @ £200k £9,200 £9,200

Growth @ 3 per year = 15 [37% of trend growth] £3,000 £3,000

38 of the 61 OOBPs brought back to Salford (£7,600)

Baseline IFAs 63 @ £40k £2,520 £2,520

38 Additional IFAs [1 for each OOBP avoided] £1,520

Costs [excluding fostering increase] £9,552 £9,552

Fostering Increase £460 £460

Additional No Wrong Door Hub Costs £1,619

ACT [£100k], TCS [£158k] and Domestic Abuse 
costs [£255k]

£513

Total Costs £24,732 £20,784

Cost avoidance / growth containment £3,948

Scenario 3: The “Best Case” Scenario
 Growth assumption is 6 per year. Total “Do Nothing” is 71 [baseline 46 plus 30 “growth”].
 Of the 6 growth, 5 will be contained within the model. 
 Only 50% of OOBPs brought back into Salford will result in an IFA, with 50% managed 

within the home environment.
 Benefit is assumed from residential home closure. Whilst no closures are likely until Year 

3 at the earliest, it is feasible for up to 5 of the 7 homes to no longer be required once the 
programmes are up and running. Estates savings is assumed to be £2m [i.e. 5 x £400k].

 £120k savings through negotiating lower prices with provider – a joint exercise between 
service and procurement leads.

 A second hub will be required at an estimated £1m. 
 Year 3 costs of ACT, TCS, and Domestic Abuse are not included as an additional cost 

pressure as they are assumed to be offset by other benefits e.g. A&E reduced 
admissions, lower CAMHS activity, reduced substance misuse etc. 

Page 53



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 28

Scenario 3
Figures in £000s

2023/24 Year 5
Do Nothing

2023/24 
Year 5

Baseline 46 OOBPs @ £200k £9,200 £9,200

Growth @ 6 per year = 30 [75% of trend growth] £6,000 £5,000

53 of the 76 OOBPs brought back to Salford (£9,600)

Baseline IFAs 63 @ £40k £2,520 £2,520

27 Additional IFAs [1 for each 2 OOBPs avoided] £1,060

Costs [excluding fostering increase] £9,552 £9,552

Fostering Increase £460 £460

Additional No Wrong Door Hub Costs £1,619

Residential Home savings 5 x £400k (£2,000)

Additional Hub Costs £1,000

Reduced weekly costs negotiated with providers (£120k)

Total Costs £26,732 £18,691

Cost avoidance / growth containment £8,041

Page 54



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 29

Best Value Transformation Fund: Support Investment

2019/20 2020/21 Total Comments

Business Intelligence £0 £0 £0 No additional cost anticipated - will be covered within existing resource

Data £10,000 £10,000 £20,000 Additional B5/Graduate for Data analysis - within BI Teams. Total cost £20k across 19/20 and 
20/21

LA Finance £25,000 £25,000 £50,000 Backfill for LA finance leads, to cover 2 days a week as required.

CCG Finance £0 £0 £0 No additional cost anticipated - will be covered within existing resource

Contracting £0 £0 £0 No additional cost anticipated - will be covered within existing resource
£35,000 £35,000 £70,000

Domestic Abuse programme Review £10,000 £0 £10,000 Fixed contract value with external consultants - £10k

Children's Placements £10,000 £10,000 £20,000 Review of current placements [0.4 WTE x 6 months]. Commenced Jan 19

Domestic Abuse Co-ordinator £60,000 £0 £60,000 This is a critical role to support the domestic abuse programme, previously agreed in principal. 
Full-year cost is c£60k. One-year only. 

Project Manager /Evaluation Officer £15,000 £15,000 £30,000 Additional 18 month fixed-term post to evaluate programme delivery.

No Wrong Door Programme Manager £75,000 £75,000 £150,000 In-post project/programme support. 

£40,000 £0 £40,000 SEND pathfinder is at Band 5 for one year

£20,000 £0 £20,000 Assumed 2 days per week from internal secondment. Following same process as the 
development of adult social care reporting framework 

£230,000 £100,000 £330,000

Total Support £265,000 £135,000 £400,000
Support as a % of £4m transformation 10.0%

Appendix 5

Sub-total

Corporate Support

Sub-total

Service and Commissioning Support

Programme Manager for SEND pathfinder 

Development of Children's Reporting Framework

P
age 55



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 30

1

Total GM Inv't Net
No Wrong Door £802.0 -£330.0 £472.0 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £1,618.5
Transforming Care/SEND £240.0 -£190.0 £50.0 £208.0 £158.0 £158.0 £158.0
Achieving Care Together £140.0 -£140.0 £0.0 £100.0 £100.0 £100.0 £100.0 4
Domestic Abuse & Trauma Informed £155.2 £0.0 £155.2 £280.3 £255.3 £255.3 £250.3 5
Infrastructure Support £265.0 £0.0 £265.0 £135.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 6
TOTAL £1,602.1 -£660.0 £942.1 £2,341.8 £2,131.8 £2,131.8 £2,126.8 7

41.7%

Hub Manager x 1 FTE £24.3 £58.4 £58.4 £58.4 £58.4 £25.0 £25.0 £25.0 £25.0 £25.0
Deputy Manager x 2 FTE £36.6 £87.9 £87.9 £87.9 £87.9 Specialist Nurse 0.5 WTE £25.0 £25.0 £25.0 £25.0 £25.0
Portfolio Lead x 7 FTE £121.3 £291.2 £291.2 £291.2 £291.2 £35.0 £35.0 £35.0 £35.0 £35.0
Key Workers x 24 FTE £348.8 £837.1 £837.1 £837.1 £837.1 Short-term Breaks Packages £40.0 £40.0 £40.0 £40.0 £40.0
FGC Co-ordinator x 1 FTE £16.0 £38.4 £38.4 £38.4 £38.4 Project Management £45.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0

£13.7 £32.9 £32.9 £32.9 £32.9 Training £20.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0
Ed Psych 0.5 £12.5 £30.0 £30.0 £30.0 £30.0 SEN Co-ordinator £0.0 £33.0 £33.0 £33.0 £33.0
Support Services £6.3 £15.0 £15.0 £15.0 £15.0 Other Costs £50.0 £50.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0
Overtime & Sleeping in Allowances £38.6 £92.5 £92.5 £92.5 £92.5 Total TCS Costs £240.0 £208.0 £158.0 £158.0 £158.0
Police Resource (tbc) £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 Less GM: Funding [Year 1 only] -£190.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0
Clinical Psychologist £29.2 £70.0 £70.0 £70.0 £70.0 Total TCS Costs £50.0 £208.0 £158.0 £158.0 £158.0
Importing Costs - Year 1 only £89.7 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0
Fostering Resources £40.0 £40.0 £40.0 £40.0 £40.0
Training & Development - All years £25.0 £25.0 £25.0 £25.0 £25.0
Total NWD Costs £802.0 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £29.25 £58.5 £58.5 £58.5 £58.5
Less GM Non-Recurrent Funding - Year 1 only -£330.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £25.35 £50.7 £50.7 £50.7 £50.7
Total NWD Costs £472.0 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £0.00 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0

£29.25 £58.5 £58.5 £58.5 £58.5
£41.30 £82.6 £82.6 £82.6 £82.6
£25.0 £25.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0

WTE £40.0 £40.0 £40.0 £40.0 £40.0 £5.0 £5.0 £5.0 £5.0 £0.0
WTE £30.0 £30.0 £30.0 £30.0 £30.0 £155.2 £280.3 £255.3 £255.3 £250.3
Project Management £30.0 £30.0 £30.0 £30.0 £30.0
Training £20.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0
Other costs £20.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0
Total ACT Costs £140.0 £100.0 £100.0 £100.0 £100.0
Less GM Non-Recurrent Funding - Year 1 only -£140.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0
Total ACT Costs £0.0 £100.0 £100.0 £100.0 £100.0

Note: the Domestic Abuse and Trauma Informed workforce costs will be revised based on 
the outcome of the "needs assessment" review - to be carried out in July 

Appendix 6

Year 1 
2019/20

Year 2 
2020/21

Year 3 
2021/22

Year 4 
2022/23

Year 5 
2023/24

Year 1 
2019/20

Year 2 
2020/21

Year 3 
2021/22

Year 4 
2022/23

TCS includes SEND

Achieving Change Together Early Help Senior Practitioner 2.0 WTE 

Year 1 2019/20 Costs
Programme

Year 5 
2023/24

Year 5 
2023/24

No Wrong Door "Hub" Costs

Speech & Language Therapist

Salford BVTF Investment £3,283.9

Year 3 
2021/22

Year 4 
2022/23

Trauma Informed Outcomes/Quality Officer 
Trauma Informed Advocate Coordinator

Salford Best Value: Children's Programme Costs

2

3

Year 1 for NWD is 5 months costs from Nov 19 to Mar 20
Notes

Year 2 
2020/21

Year 3 
2021/22

Year 3 to 5 funded through recurrent CCG and Council investment and subject to business 
cases. To be submitted by Dec 20 with detailed programme evaluations

Transforming Care in Salford [the 
Ealing Model]

Education Psychologist 0.5 WTE 

Assistant Psychologist 1.0 WTE

Pay inflation not included - will be managed elsewhere within CCG and Council budgets

Year 1 
2019/20

Year 2 
2020/21

Year 4 
2022/23

Year 5 
2023/24

Year 1 for ACT and TCS/SEND are full year as these have already commenced. Year 1 costs 
are funded through GM non-recurrent investment

Domestic Abuse and NWD project management is included in Infrastructure Costs
Domestic Abuse Year 1 costs are at 50% - assumes 6 months to March 20

Children’s Domestic Abuse Lead

Total Domestic Abuse and Trauma Informed

Year 5 
2023/24

Year 4 
2022/23

Year 2 
2020/21

Year 3 
2021/22Domestic Abuse and Trauma Informed

Other costs

Therapeutic Lead 

Training Costs

Year 1 
2019/20

P
age 56



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 31

0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
4 4 4 4 4

Cost No. £000 Cost No. £000 Cost No. £000 Cost No. £000 Cost No. £000 Cost No. £000
Outside Placements "Baseline" £200.0 46 £9,200.0 £200.0 46 £9,200.0 £200.0 46 £9,200.0 £200.0 46 £9,200.0 £200.0 46 £9,200.0 £200.0 46 £9,200.0
NWD Impact £200.0 0 £0.0 £200.0 4 £800.0 £200.0 8 £1,600.0 £200.0 12 £2,400.0 £200.0 16 £3,200.0 £200.0 20 £4,000.0

Total Outside Placements 46 £9,200.0 50 £10,000.0 54 £10,800.0 58 £11,600.0 62 £12,400.0 66 £13,200.0

Total IFAs £40.0 63 £2,520.0 £40.0 63 £2,520.0 £40.0 63 £2,520.0 £40.0 63 £2,520.0 £40.0 63 £2,520.0 £40.0 63 £2,520.0

Total OOBs and IFAs £11,720.0 £12,520.0 £13,320.0 £14,120.0 £14,920.0 £15,720.0

In-house foster care £2,818.5 £2,818.5 £2,818.5 £2,818.5 £2,818.5 £2,818.5
Friends & Families Foster Care £1,775.4 £1,775.4 £1,775.4 £1,775.4 £1,775.4 £1,775.4
Focus Foster care £1,212.5 £1,212.5 £1,212.5 £1,212.5 £1,212.5 £1,212.5
In House residential £3,746.1 £3,746.1 £3,746.1 £3,746.1 £3,746.1 £3,746.1
In-house foster care - rate increase £0.0 £460.0 £460.0 £460.0 £460.0 £460.0
19/20 funded through Social Care Grant £0.0 -£460.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0
Sub-Total £9,552.5 £9,552.5 £10,012.5 £10,012.5 £10,012.5 £10,012.5
TOTAL COSTS £21,272.5 £22,072.5 £23,332.5 £24,132.5 £24,932.5 £25,732.5

Annual Cost Increase Cumulative Growth of £4,460k comprises £4m growth [20 OOBPs x £200k] plus £460k increase in annual foster carer payments £4,460.0

Cost inflation Year 4 Cost inflation Year 5

Year 4 2022/23 Year 5 2023/24

Appendix 7

Placement Increase Placement Increase Placement Increase
Cost inflation Year 3

Year 3 2021/22

Children's Placements [No Wrong Door]: Do Nothing Scenario

Baseline [Year 0] 2018/19
Costs

Year 1 2019/20 Year 2 2020/21

Cost inflation Year 1 Cost inflation Year 2
Placement Increase Placement Increase

P
age 57



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 32

OOBs brought back 6 10 10 4 0
In-year Impact 3 8 10 7 2

4 4 4 4 4

Cost No. £000 Cost No. £000 Cost No. £000 Cost No. £000 Cost No. £000 Cost No. £000
Outside Placements "Baseline" 46 £9,200.0 46 £9,200.0 46 £9,200.0 39 £7,800.0 30 £6,000.0 24 £4,800.0
NWD Impact 0 £0.0 -3 -£600.0 -8 -£1,600.0 -10 -£2,000.0 -7 -£1,400.0 -2 -£400.0
Baseline - NWD 46 £9,200.0 43 £8,600.0 38 £7,600.0 29 £5,800.0 23 £4,600.0 22 £4,400.0
Outside Placements "Growth" 0 £0.0 4 £800.0 4 £800.0 4 £800.0 4 £800.0 4 £800.0
Growth internally managed full year 0 £0.0 -1 -£200.0 -3 -£600.0 -3 -£600.0 -3 -£600.0 -3 -£600.0
Total Outside Placements 46 £9,200.0 46 £9,200.0 39 £7,800.0 30 £6,000.0 24 £4,800.0 23 £4,600.0

IFAs "Baseline" 63 £2,520.0 63 £2,520.0 67 £2,680.0 78 £3,120.0 91 £3,640.0 101 £4,040.0
IFAs "Growth" 0 £0.0 4 £160.0 11 £440.0 13 £520.0 10 £400.0 5 £200.0
Total IFAs 63 £2,520.0 67 £2,680.0 78 £3,120.0 91 £3,640.0 101 £4,040.0 106 £4,240.0

Total OOBs and IFAs 109 £11,720.0 113 £11,880.0 117 £10,920.0 121 £9,640.0 125 £8,840.0 129 £8,840.0

In-house foster care £2,818.5 £2,818.5 £2,818.5 £2,818.5 £2,818.5 £2,818.5
Friends & Families Foster Care £1,775.4 £1,775.4 £1,775.4 £1,775.4 £1,775.4 £1,775.4
Focus Foster care £1,212.5 £1,212.5 £1,212.5 £1,212.5 £1,212.5 £1,212.5
In House residential £3,746.1 £3,746.1 £3,746.1 £3,746.1 £3,746.1 £3,746.1
In-house foster care - rate increase £0.0 £460.0 £460.0 £460.0 £460.0 £460.0
19/20 funded through Social Care Grant £0.0 -£460.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0 £0.0
No Wrong Door Costs £0.0 £472.0 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £1,618.5 £1,618.5

Sub-Total £9,552.5 £10,024.5 £11,631.0 £11,631.0 £11,631.0 £11,631.0
TOTAL COSTS £21,272.5 £21,904.5 £22,551.0 £21,271.0 £20,471.0 £20,471.0

"Do Nothing" Costs £21,272.5 £22,072.5 £23,332.5 £24,132.5 £24,932.5 £25,732.5

Cost Avoidance Benefit £5,261.5

Appendix 8

Placement Increase Placement Increase Placement Increase Placement Increase Placement Increase

£40.0 £40.0 £40.0 £40.0 £40.0

£200.0

£40.0

Children's Placements: Financial Model

Costs Baseline [Year 0] 2018/19 Year 1 2019/20 Year 2 2020/21 Year 3 2021/22 Year 4 2022/23 Year 5 2023/24

£200.0 £200.0 £200.0 £200.0 £200.0

P
age 58



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 33

OOBs
Apr-16 22
May-16 24
Jun-16 24
Jul-16 25
Aug-16 27
Sep-16 24
Oct-16 23
Nov-16 21
Dec-16 21
Jan-17 23
Feb-17 22
Mar-17 25
Apr-17 25
May-17 24
Jun-17 26
Jul-17 24
Aug-17 23
Sep-17 25
Oct-17 25
Nov-17 28
Dec-17 29
Jan-18 30
Feb-18 31
Mar-18 37
Apr-18 37
May-18 37
Jun-18 39
Jul-18 39
Aug-18 38
Sep-18 42
Oct-18 41
Nov-18 40
Dec-18 42
Jan-19 42
Feb-19 45
Mar-19 46
Apr-19

2019

May-19
Jun-19
Jul-19

Aug-19
Sep-19
Oct-19
Nov-19

Appendix 9Salford out of Borough Placements

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Ap
r-1

6

Ju
l-1

6

Oc
t-1

6

Ja
n-

17

Ap
r-1

7

Ju
l-1

7

Oc
t-1

7

Ja
n-

18

Ap
r-1

8

Ju
l-1

8

Oc
t-1

8

Ja
n-

19

Ap
r-1

9

Ju
l-1

9

Oc
t-1

9

Ja
n-

20

Ap
r-2

0

Ju
l-2

0

Oc
t-2

0

Ja
n-

21

Ap
r-2

1

Ju
l-2

1

Oc
t-2

1

Ja
n-

22

Ap
r-2

2

Ju
l-2

2

Oc
t-2

2

Ja
n-

23

Ap
r-2

3

Ju
l-2

3

Oc
t-2

3

Ja
n-

24

Ap
r-2

4

50

60
68

85

76

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Jan-16 Jan-17 Jan-18 Jan-19 Jan-20 Jan-21 Jan-22 Jan-23 Jan-24

Do Nothing NWD

NWD "Go 
LIve"

Oct 20 
Evaluation

"Do Nothing" Trend 

"Do Nothing" vs. NWD

P
age 59



Children’s BV: Case For Change SFG 4th June 2019 Page 34

Partnership Organisations engaged and consulted on no Wrong Door Model to date include - 

 GMP 

 Salford Royal Foundation Trust 

 Manchester Royal Foundation Trust 

 GPs 

 Probation 

 Housing 

 Social care 

 Commissioning teams 

 Education 

 SEND 

 Public Health 

 Adult Services 

 CVS 

P
age 60



1

Item no.

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of report Maternity Services in Salford  - Update
Date

Contact Officer Lynette Harwood/ Debbie Blackburn

1.     Executive Summary

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board? - Relevance of this report to 
the priorities of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment or integrated 
working

Action from previous meeting to provide an update 
on Maternity Services for Salford

Health and Wellbeing Board’s duties 
or responsibilities in this area

Overview and Scrutiny of services

Key questions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address - what 
action is needed from the Board and 
its members?

To note the report

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around 
this issue?

N/A

2.     Introduction 

The purpose of the paper is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update on Maternity 
Services in Salford and focuses on:

 The Scale and Spread plans of the Maternity Pioneer
 Ingleside Birth and Community Centre
 Links with other maternity developments
 Assurance/Monitoring of Maternity Services

3.     Maternity Pioneer

In April 2016, as part of the national implementation of Better Births, NHS Salford CCG together 
with Bolton and Wigan CCGs submitted a bid to become a Maternity Pioneer and were successful in 
becoming one of seven National Maternity Pioneers focusing on trailblazing new approaches to 

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



2

choice and personalisation in maternity care. Salford CCG is the lead organisation and the Chief 
Accountable Officer was nominated as the Senior Responsible Officer for the Pioneer.

Part of the successful bid included the CCG’s plans to develop a new Birth Centre and Community 
Hub and offered the opportunity to design and learn from new approaches to delivering maternity 
services that support the implementation of Better Births around widening choice of provider.

Throughout the programme the Pioneer project team has consulted, engaged and worked with all 
stakeholders including GPs to develop services and evaluate them. Continual evaluation has taken 
the form of local and national surveys and local focus groups (annually) with women and midwives.

The Pioneer has developed a range of supporting work and documentation linked to the wider 
developments around maternity services as a whole.

In 2017 the Pioneer initiated a full roll out of Personal Maternity Care Budgets (PMCBs) in Bolton, 
Salford and Wigan (over 10,000 women have received the choice offer) and have achieved 
recognition from the National Maternity Transformation Programme for being the only Pioneer to 
offer a true choice of provider organisation and the recommended four birth place settings to women 
as part of the PMCB programme. 

There are now five maternity providers delivering services across the Pioneer conurbation offering 
women a choice of services along the maternity care pathway through PMCBs at the first point of 
contact:

 Bolton NHS Foundation Trust (BFT), including the Ingleside Centre in Salford
 Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh NHS Foundation Trust (WWLFT)
 Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WHHFT)
 Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust (PAHT)
 Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (MFT)

It should be noted that historically four maternity providers were commissioned to deliver services to 
Salford women (BFT, WFFFT, MFT and PAHT) on a post code zonal basis creating boundaries of 
provision across the city channelling women into one provider.

The National Pioneer Programme ended on the 31st March 2019 however, plans are in place to 
further share the learning across regional Local Maternity Systems and Clinical Networks. NHS 
England has recruited to two regional roles across England to further embed the learning from the 
National Pioneers. Salford CCG will host the North Regional Post as recognition for the work around 
implementing the choice agenda and developing innovative models of care particularly linked to 
Ingleside Birth and Community Centre.

4.     Ingleside Birth and Community Centre

Ingleside Birth and Community Centre became operational on the 6th April 2018. Ingleside is a free-
standing midwifery-led unit offering maternity services to women in Salford, Bolton and Wigan as 
part of the Maternity Pioneer although the main activity of the centre is predominantly Salford 
families.  
The focus for the Birth Centre was predominantly on providing the best experience to women; it now 
offers a midwifery-led birthing environment in a stand-alone unit that has been refurbished to the 
highest standard. The centre offers a choice option to all standard care women in Salford, Bolton 
and Wigan assessed as being eligible to birth there.  

Page 62



3

The facility includes four birthing rooms each with a birthing pool and a range of birthing aids to 
support women to have a natural birth experience. Ultrasound scanning is available for scanning 
women during pregnancy and some women’s health – related care.  

As a community hub the Birth Centre hosts a variety of early year’s services to provide an early 
month’s focus on delivering the best start to babies born in the Pioneer conurbation. The centre also 
provides a community space for maternity and early years services such as: antenatal and postnatal 
groups, breastfeeding support and perinatal mental health support to ensure holistic care is 
provided to the women and her family. 

By the end of May 2019, 119 babies have been born in the birth centre and feedback from women 
and their families is extremely positive.
Developing the Birth Centre and Community Hub is a long-term development and work is still on-
going to embed service provision and ensure sustainability of the facility. 

Birth Centre Developments
In-reach Model of Service Delivery
When originally commissioning the Birth Centre the CCG conducted service modelling work to 
ensure that there was enough activity in the area to sustain the birth centre and as such the service 
specification included the requirement that BFT as the lead provider for the Birth Centre would work 
with commissioners to develop an innovative model of care that would enable the unit to be 
successful and sustainable. 

A service development task group was convened to develop an in-reach service delivery model for 
the Birth Centre. This has been challenging as the CCG was breaking new ground in formulating 
plans for multiple provider use of a birth centre. 

The vision was one whereby all five provider organisations would use the facility with their own 
midwives offering continuity of carer. This would promote choice and personalisation for women and 
maximise utilisation of the birth centre to make the service successful and sustainable. 

The service model would enable all the maternity providers to offer women the four choices of birth 
place as recommended in NICE Guidance: home birth, free-standing midwife-led unit (FMU) 
alongside midwife-led unit (AMU) and obstetric unit (OU). 

It should be noted that an in-reach model of service delivery featuring multiple providers has not 
been tried or tested anywhere else so flexibility was built into the plan to allow for learning and 
adjustment. 

PAHT offered to be the first in-reaching organisation working with commissioners and BFT to 
develop and approve operating policies and the financial model. The first baby to birth at Ingleside 
Birth Centre using the In-reach model was born on 29 January 2019.

The model is still under development with WWLFT and MFT developing their plans to start in-
reaching shortly.

NHS England is keen to learn from this work and continues to support the development and 
implementation of the service model.

Continuity Midwifery Team
BFT have recently developed and recruited to a continuity team of midwives based at Ingleside 
Birth Centre; the aim is to offer continuity of care, increase confidence and activity:

Page 63



4

Team development:
 Team of 6-8 midwives 
 Caseload size of approximately 35 women per whole time equivalent midwife
 Named Obstetrician for the team
 Increase Midwives confidence in natural birth outside of hospital settings
 Support at times of high demand by the wider community team

Immediate action to improve the birth rate at the Ingleside Birth Centre and home:
 Develop a common framework to support all midwives to offer consistent evidence based 

information at referral and booking appointments, irrelevant of geography
 Referral clinics based at the Ingleside
 All suitable bookings to be performed at the Ingleside
 36 week birth options appointment for all suitable women held at the Ingleside birth centre
 Opportunities for women to meet the team
 Provide empowering services i.e. hypnobirthing

Communications and Engagement
Whilst the CCG and Salford City Council shares and supports the communications around Ingleside 
the responsibility for raising awareness of the Birth Centre lies with the BFT as the lead provider. 
The existing communication plan includes:

 Coffee mornings and events at Ingleside
o Tours of the facility

 Local Media
o Press reports/local radio

 Word of mouth
 Work with GP practices
 Friends and family questionnaire – promote high levels of satisfaction
 Birth place survey

o Provides invaluable feedback to staff & identifies areas for improvement
o Display results in the Community Hub for all to see

 Visitors book available in reception
 Social Media

o Ingleside website/Facebook/Twitter
o Voices for Better Births – Pioneer Facebook group
o Get to know your midwife pages
o Upload positive feedback/share positive birth stories
o Link to Digital resources

Community Hub Developments
Ingleside now offers a full range of community midwifery-led antenatal and post natal services to 
women. It was a key development that the facility should be used to target vulnerable families as 
well as those living in the surrounding area. Training events are also held at the centre and student 
midwives have placement sessions with midwives based there.
Footfall within the centre has increase significantly and this has had an impact on the number of 
women planning to give birth there.
Services available now include:

 Ultrasound services & direct access to an allocated Obstetrician
 Routine Ante natal and booking clinics
 Preparation for birth classes & active birth sessions
 Targeted Early Years services 

Page 64



5

 Breastfeeding workshop/postnatal breastfeeding drop in clinic/peer support sessions
 Pregnancy & Baby yoga classes
 Positive birth group
 Complementary therapies including:

o Hypnobirthing
o Aromatherapy
o Reflexology

 Stop smoking services/Baby Clear
.

5.     Linked Programmes Developments

There are a range of linked developments and programmes at a national and regional level that 
support the service developments for wider maternity services delivered in Salford. These 
developments are overseen by the Greater Manchester and Eastern Cheshire Maternity 
Transformation Board.

NHS Planning & Contracting Guidance: 10 Year Forward Plan - The full NHS Planning and 
Contracting Guidance for 2019/20 was published in January 2019 and outlines the following for 
maternity services:

 Deliver full implementation of the Saving Babies’ Lives Care Bundle (v2) by 31st March 
2020. 

 Increase the number of women receiving continuity of the person caring for them during 
pregnancy, birth and postnatally so that by March 2020, 35% of women are booked on to a 
continuity of carer pathway. All reasonable endeavours must be undertaken to ensure that 
continuity of carer is provided to groups that experience the poorest outcomes, such as 
women from ethnic minorities and the most deprived socio-economic groups. Continuity of 
carer should be delivered alongside ensuring high quality care maternity for all women. 

 Continue against trajectory to deliver improvements in choice and personalisation through 
Local Maternity Systems so that by March 2021 all women have a personalised care plan. 

 Continue against trajectory to deliver improvements in choice and personalisation through 
Local Maternity Systems so that by March 2021 more women can give birth in midwifery 
settings. 

Saving Babies’ Lives Care Bundle - As part of the Greater Manchester and Eastern Cheshire
Local Maternity System (LMS) Salford CCG is continuing to work towards meeting the National 
“halve it” ambition of reducing still births, neonatal deaths, maternal deaths and brain injuries by 
20% by 2020 and 50% by 2025. The LMS has established a Saving Babies’ Lives (SBL) work 
stream to aid implementation and has appointed SBL Champions in all Greater Manchester 
Providers. 

Perinatal Mental Health - As part of the population health investment the Local Authority and the 
CCG have been jointly reviewing the perinatal mental health pathway.  There is a Greater 
Manchester ambition for the ten Authorities to develop an integrated service for perinatal support 
based on the Tameside model.  Salford has begun this process and has held stakeholder 
workshops and worked with colleagues from Tameside to describe what this looks like in Salford.  
An option appraisal has been developed and the next stage is for joint leadership to agree the 
option for implementation.

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) – The Salford Public Health team developed a CDOP action 
plan based on a review of local and national evidence and guidance. The Salford CDOP partnership 
group have oversight of the implementation of the action plan.  The CDOP for Salford, Wigan and 
Bolton is represented by the Chair of the Salford CDOP partnership group and CDOP 

Page 65



6

recommendations are included in the local action plan.  The action plan covers a wide range of 
areas with focus on reduction in of preventable risk factors such as maternal obesity, smoking, 
alcohol and substance misuse, 

BabyClear Plus - Greater Manchester Combined Authority have invested in BabyClear Plus for GM 
to reduce smoking in pregnancy as part of the Making Tobacco History ambition.  They have set the 
challenge of reducing smoking at time of delivery to 6% by 2021 across GM.  Salford’s current rate 
of 12%.  The BabyClear programme ensures all pregnant women are screened throughout the 
pregnancy for carbon monoxide (CO) and given information about the harmful effects of exposure 
to CO.  Pregnant smokers are referred automatically to stop smoking specialist midwifery services 
unless they request to opt out and further support to quit is provided for them and their partners with 
an incentive high street voucher scheme.

6.     Maternity Assurance Group

In July 2018 the CCG convened a Joint Maternity Assurance Group with representatives from 
Salford City Council’s Public Health team.
Due to historical commissioning arrangements agreed through the Making it Better reorganisation of 
maternity services in Greater Manchester, Salford CCG is not the lead commissioner for any of the 
four provider organisations that deliver maternity services directly into Salford. Subsequently the 
CCG has reduced influence over reporting mechanisms and seeking quality assurance of services.

The group’s task was to work with a GP clinical lead to identify a set of indicators and standards 
from the existing national and regional monitoring mechanisms that would offer assurance on the 
quality of services delivered in Salford. This set of indicators would be reported regularly to the 
CCG:

Indicator Reporting

Booking data Quarterly
Smoking rate at time of booking and delivery Quarterly
No: of women delivered Quarterly
No: of live births at any gestation Quarterly
No: of stillbirths Quarterly
No: of operative virginal deliveries Quarterly
No: of elective LSCS Quarterly
No: of emergency LSCS Quarterly

No: of 3rd &4th degree tears Quarterly

Apgar scores  
% women with Continuity of carer Quarterly
Significant events and learning  Quarterly
Ingleside data Monthly
Patient experience-National Survey of Women Annually

To support the new reporting mechanisms a bespoke dashboard has been developed featuring all 
the identified indicators. The dashboard allows the Maternity Assurance Group to interrogate and 
make assumptions on the data at provider and in some cases CCG level. 

7.     Recommendations for action 

The Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to note the updates provided in this report.

Page 66



Commissioning Committee - Reporting Schedule 2019-20

Enquiries: Debbie Blackburn deborah.blackburn@salford.gov.uk 

Item Frequency Author Presenter Sep-19 Nov-19 Jan-20 Mar-20 May-20

Apologies for Absence Standing Item Chair ���� ���� ���� ���� ����

Matters Arising, Action Log, & Minutes of Last Meeting Standing Item Chair ���� ���� ���� ���� ����

Finance Standing Item ���� ���� ���� ���� ����

Performance Standing Item ���� ���� ���� ���� ����

Name of contract
 Contract Value 

19-20 
Client Lead

CURRENT 

CONTRACT END 

DATE 

Sep-19 Nov-19 Jan-20 Mar-20 May-20

Short Break Care for Children with Disabilities (Granville) 31.03.20

Targeted Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 31.03.21

Allied Health Professionals 31.03.21

Lane End  and Claremont Road 31.03.21

Targeted Support to help Salford Young People to Engage in Appropriate and 

Compliant Education, Employment and Training Provision. 

31.03.20

Paediatric Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy Service Ongoing

Community Paediatrics Ongoing

0-19 Integrated Childrens Health Service 31.03.20

Speech and Language Therapy

Paediatric Ophthalmology Currently out of 

contract although 

activity included
Governor Services Software System 30.06.19

Person Centred Community Approaches 31.12.2019

North West Fostering Framework N/a

Greater Manchester Residential Framework N/a

Transport Framework (Dynamic Purchasing System) N/a

Early Years Educator Agency Workers 31.05.19

Interpretation and Translation Service 31.10.19

16+ North West Framework 31.03.2020

Transport - Alderbrook Primary Partnership Centre 20.07.20

Short Break Care Services for Disabled Children 31.03.21

For information 

For Decision (Over £150k)

Committee Meeting Schedule 

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 10



Salford Futures N/a

Equipment Service Ongoing

Audio Computer Assisted Self Interviewing (ACASI) 30.10.19

Intensive Family Key Worker Service 31.03.20

P
age 68


	Agenda
	4 To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 1 May 2019
	6 Commissioning Intentions.
	MASTER COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS REVIEW JUNE 2019

	7 Best Value.
	Childrens BV for 0-25 Adv Bd 17 July 19 FINAL

	8 Maternity Services in Salford - Update
	10 Work Programme 2019 / 2020

